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“Tough times never last, but tough people do”
R. Schuller

DEAR STAKEHOLDERS
Our hopes that you and your dear ones are safe and fine amidst the unfortunate circumstances, top
of which is the COVID 19 pandemic.
Obviously, the year 2019 was extraordinary at various measures. The series of events that erupted
towards the end of the year has had, and will continue to have, severe repercussions on the Lebanese
economy and the banking industry for years to come.
Lebanon fiscal and economic figures witnessed an unprecedented downturn and were accompanied
with the usual political tension in the country. The international credit rating agencies downgraded
the Lebanese sovereign closer to the default zone.
Events after the October 17 uprising exacerbated an already bad situation; the Central Bank and the
Association of Lebanese banks were forced to carry out exceptional regulatory measures and decisions. The aim was to maintain the stability of the sector and manage liquidity, given the systemic
rush from the clients and in light of the deteriorating fiscal and economic conditions.
Fenicia Bank faced the year’s challenges with resolve. On many days, we resorted to the bank contingency plan to operate, balancing our commitment to keep our staff safe while also providing
proper service to our clients.
Financial wise, our balance sheet slowed down to reach USD 1,666 million with a decrease of around
10% compared to year 2018. The main balance sheet drivers—deposits and loans—also declined concurrently with the banking sector. The customer deposits reached USD 1,371 million, decreasing by
4%, and the customer loan portfolio was USD 452 million at year-end, with a negative 13.5% change
compared to the 2018 year-end.
The bank sovereign exposure with the Lebanese state constitutes around 24% of the balance sheet,
of which 5% are investments in Eurobonds. The bank conforms to the regulatory authority directives
and ratios of expected credit loss (ECL) against this portfolio. Nevertheless, since the suspension of
sovereign Eurobond settlements in March 2020, the bank has set a plan to allocate provisions above
the regulatory ratios in the coming years.
Despite the adversity since last year, our bank maintained a satisfactory capital adequacy ratio of
11.48% at the end of 2019. Moreover, the bank shareholders injected new capital in the form of cash
contributions. This responsible action was among the fastest in the sector and in conformity with
BDL intermediate circular 532.
In closing, we appreciate all those who have endured the unfavorable circumstances with tolerance
and grace. We cannot but hope for better days to come for our country and consequently for the
Lebanese people.
Abdul Razzak Achour
Chairman and General Manager
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Introduction
As you well know, 2019 was a tough year for Lebanon, especially towards its end.
Our goal of maintaining sound corporate governance capable of coping with the
continuous banking sector changes prompted us to make several amendments,
which are summarized below:

•

The bank benefited from the wide-ranging expertise of the newly elected board
member and teamed up with the board of directors to assure the implementation
of the best practices in corporate governance—as outlined by the FCC—in order
to maintain financial stability.

•

The bank updated the corporate governance code, FCC program, and other
policies and procedures to ensure compliance with local and international laws
and regulations.

•

Our most valuable asset is our staff. To continue enriching our staff’s knowledge,
we conducted training programs throughout the year. Such training allowed us
to ensure that our employees’ qualifications are up to international standards
and to support the quest of acquiring professional certification.

I. Organizational Structure
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II. Bank Committees

•

Board Committees:
– Audit Committee
– Governance and Remuneration Committee
– Risk Committee
– AML and FCC Committee

•

Management Committees:
– AML / CFT Special Committee
– Assets & Liabilities Committee
– Credit Committees (3 sub-committees)
– Asset Classification, Measurement & Provisioning Committee
– FATCA Committee
– Financial & Estate Placements Committee
– Information Security Committee
– Procedures & Internal Control Committee
– Training Committee
– Archiving Committee

III. Fenicia Bank Board Governance
III.1 Board of Directors’ Roles and Responsibilities
Fenicia Bank’s Board of Directors has wide authority to implement the decisions of the General Assembly and to
exercise the non-day-to-day activities required to run the business. The Board of Directors supervises the setting
and implementation of the Bank’s strategy, oversees the performance of the Bank’s management and its execution
of the strategy and objectives, and sets standards for evaluations and remunerations.
The Board ensures proper care of the legitimate interests of the shareholders, depositors, and stakeholders. Likewise, it ensures the building of trust in the Bank and sees that proper governance procedures are in place and abided by. The Board ensures the proper implementation of the required control procedures, oversees the financial reporting and audit systems, and follows up on the work of the internal audit unit and the external auditors.
The Board of Directors sets the general policy of risk management at the Bank and ensures its efficient and proper
implementation. It is responsible for transparency in relation to the Bank’s activities and results and for its abidance
by the applicable laws and regulations.

III.2 Responsibilities of the Chairman
The Chairman of the Board of Directors represents the Bank to third parties, executes the Board’s decisions, and
facilitates the daily operations of the Bank, as stated by the bylaws and under the supervision and control of the
Board of Directors. The Chair provides leadership to the Board and is responsible for the Board’s overall effective
functioning.

III.3 Composition of the Board
The Bank’s Board of Directors is currently composed of nine members, three of whom are independent, three are
non-executive, and three are executive directors.
At Fenicia Bank, we aim to assure the mix of expertise at the board level as well as at the committee level since we
believe that this diversity contributes to a sound decision making platform, enabling us to manage the constant
changes in the banking sector. Dr. Khalil joined the Bank in 2020 as an Independent Board Member. The wide and
rich background of Dr. Khalil ought to bring benefit to the bank on different levels.
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III.4 Board and Board Committees
Board Committees

Directors

Date
of
Joining
the
Board

Board Composition

Category**

Membership***

Audit
Committee

Governance
& Remuneration
Committee

Risk
Committee

AML & FCC
Committee-

Membership***

Membership***

Membership***

Membership***

Mr. Abdul Razzak Achour

1992

E

C

Mr. Mohsen Naamani

2012

E

M

M

M

Dr. Assaad Khocheich

2012

E

M

M

M

Dr. Georges Najjar

2012

I

M

Mr. Aziz Maacaron

1992

NE

M

M

M

Mr. Youssef Merhi

1992

NE

M

M

M

Mr. Abdallah Achour

1992

NE

M

Mr. Sarkis Yoghourtdjian

2018

I

M

Dr. Samer Khalil *

2020

I

M

C

C

C
C

*Elected as board member in January 2020 **E=Executive		
***C =Chairman M=Member

I=Independent

NE=Non-executive

III.5 Board Committees
The Board delegates some of its responsibilities to its committees and maintains the duty of following up on the
actions, findings, and recommendations of these committees and taking the actions deemed appropriate.

III.5.1 Audit Committee
III.5.1.1 Membership
The Audit Committee consists of three non-executive directors. The Chairman of the Committee is considered by
the Board to be independent.
The Board has determined that the Committee Chair, Dr. Samer Khalil, possesses relevant financial and audit
experience required for the Audit Committee to fulfill its tasks.
III.5.1.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The primary mission of the Audit Committee is to assist the board in fulfilling its supervisory role and responsibilities
mainly related to:
• The autonomy and qualifications of the External Auditors and the Internal Audit Unit.
• Oversight of the financial reporting process and accounting policies, control of financial statements’ soundness,
and review of the disclosure standards adopted by the Bank.
• The adequacy and effectiveness of the audit systems and the internal control policies and procedures.
• The follow up on any observations, violations, or recommendations highlighted by the External Auditors,
supervisory authorities, the Internal Audit Unit, or the Compliance Department and follow-up on the
implementation of the remedial measures.
• The assurance of proper oversight over the compliance systems and the procedures to address any reported
non-compliance.
• The abidance by the Central Bank circulars and the Banking Control Commission circulars and reports and all
other applicable regulations.

III.5.2 Governance and Remuneration Committee
III.5.2.1 Membership
The Governance and Remuneration Committee consists of three non-executive directors. The Board considers the
Chairman of the Committee to be independent.
The Board has determined that the Committee Chair, Dr. Georges Najjar, possesses the experience required for the
Governance and Remuneration Committee to fulfill its tasks.

Annual Report 2019

8

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

III.5.2.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The primary roles of the Governance and Remuneration Committee are as follows:
• Assisting the Board of Directors in setting the governance structure and principles, updating them and ensuring
their proper implementation. In addition to setting the incentives and remunerations systems.
• Ensuring that the board structure and duties are in harmony with the bank’s corporate governance principles
and internal laws and regulations.
• Continuously updating and periodically assessing the corporate governance policies and remuneration and
compensation policy.
• Properly disclosing remunerations and their related policy according to the regulatory bodies’ recommendations.
• Properly planning and implementing the Bank’s Board succession plan.

III.5.3 Risk Committee
III.5.3.1 Membership
The Board Risk Committee consists of one independent member and two executive members. The Board considers
the Chairman of the Committee to be independent.
The Board has determined that the Committee’s Chair, Dr. George Khalil Najjar, possesses the experience required
for the Board Risk Committee to fulfill its tasks.
III.5.3.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The primary roles of the Risk Committee are as follows:
• Assisting the Board in setting the risk strategy and policies and in determining, measuring, monitoring, and
managing all the risks that the Bank is exposed to.
• Advising the Board on the Bank’s overall current and future risk tolerance.
• Verifying that the Bank operations and goals stay within its risk appetite.
• Supervising the sound adoption of the risk management principles in abidance by the regulations of the Central
Bank, the Banking Control Commission, and the Basel Committee.
• Ensuring the independence and competence of the risk management unit and overseeing its activities.
• Verifying that the risk management implementation is aligned with the Bank’s risk strategy.

III.5.4 AML & FCC Committee
III.5.4.1 Membership
The Board AML & FCC Committee consists of one independent member and two executive members. The Chairman
of the Committee is considered by the Board to be independent.
The Board has determined that the Committee’s Chair, Mr. Sarkis Yogourtdjian, possesses the experience required
for the Board AML & FCC Committee to fulfill its tasks.
III.5.4.2 Roles and Responsibilities
The primary roles of the AML and FCC Committee are as follows:
• Supporting the Board of Directors in its functions and supervisory role with respect to fighting money laundering
and terrorist financing and understanding the related risks, and assisting it with making the appropriate decisions
in this regard.
• Reviewing, from a risk-based approach, the reports submitted by the Compliance Unit and the Internal Audit
Department on adopted procedures, unusual operations and high-risk accounts, regarding cash deposits
and withdrawals, transfers, exemptions from filling Cash Transaction Slips (CTS) and the link between these
operations and economic activities, and also making the relevant decisions.

IV. External Auditors
The External Auditors of Fenicia Bank S.A.L. are PricewaterhouseCoopers and Kudos Middle East The External
Auditors were appointed by Board of Directors upon a recommendation by the Audit Committee.
The External Auditors are independent of the Bank and its directors. The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring
that the External Auditors remain independent.

V. Conflict of Interest and Related Party Transactions
The Bank has developed a Conflict of Interest Policy that promotes transparency, fairness and disclosure in issues
underlying a conflict of interest or related party transactions. The Policy delineates the procedures for avoiding
conflicts of interest to the extent possible with the appropriate disclosure mechanisms, and for identifying and
dealing with actual, potential, or perceived conflicts of interest, and disclosing them where un-prevented.
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VI. Remuneration Policy

In 2014, Fenicia Bank S.A.L. adopted a Remuneration Policy that was set forth by the Governance and Remuneration
Committee and approved by the Board of Directors. The Governance and Remuneration Committee oversees the
implementation of the Policy and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its ongoing effectiveness.

VI. 1 Objectives and Principles
The Remuneration Policy applies to all employee levels and aims at having in place a remuneration structure that:
• Facilitates the attraction and retention of talented and highly qualified employees
• Incentivizes employees and increases their motivation, productivity, and overall performance
• Ensures the alignment of employees’ efforts and performance with value creation in light of the Bank’s risk
appetite.
In achieving these objectives, the Bank’s Remuneration Policy and its practices rest upon a set of guiding and
regulatory principles, which include:
• Remuneration structures and procedures are fair and transparent throughout the Bank’s departments and
branches and consistent across each function level or category in line with the competency based approach.
• High performance is observed and fairly rewarded and the employee’s potential and career path are duly
considered.
• Remunerations are aligned with the Bank’s strategy and long-term objectives and payments are scheduled over
a consistent horizon.
• Performance targets and expectations are clearly communicated to all employees.
• The remuneration system is aligned with the Bank’s risk appetite as well as its governance principles and does
not reward excessive risk taking.
• Remuneration levels do not undermine the Bank’s financial performance.

VI.2 The Remuneration Components
The Bank seeks to offer its employees balanced remuneration packages comprised of:
VI.2.1 Fixed Remunerations, which consist of the employee’s salary, are determined based on several factors. These
include the employee’s grade and level at the Bank; the job’s function, complexity, underlying responsibilities, and
set of required skills; the employee’s performance review; and other individual factors such as the educational and
professional advancement and ethical conduct. Salaries are benchmarked against internal and peer group salary
scales to ensure fairness and consistency.
VI.2.2 Variable Remunerations, which are performance based, are granted in the form of cash bonuses. Within each
unit or branch, variable remunerations are determined based on indicators of the individual, unit/ branch, and Bank
overall performance and take due consideration of risk and compliance indicators, the employee’s function and its
complexity, and his/her behavior and ethical conduct, among other criteria.
VI.2.3 Other benefits, which are granted to employees and are subject to specific criteria and conditions as
determined by internal policies and procedures in alignment with the applicable laws and regulations. Examples
of these benefits include transportation and food allowances; hospitalization and medical care benefits; family,
marriage, maternity, education, and death allowances, and other function-related allowances such as cashier,
representation, and responsibility allowances.
VI.2.4 End of Service Indemnities, which are granted in accordance with the relevant legal requirements.
The levels of fixed and variable remunerations are duly considered at the Bank’s aggregate level in a way to ensure
their alignment with the Bank’s performance and market conditions and analyze their likely impact on indicators of
future Bank performance.

VI.3 The Remuneration of Control Functions and Senior Executives
The performance evaluation and remunerations of control functions at the Bank are determined based on their
responsibilities and the objectives of their units and are dissociated from the targets of the units they monitor in
order to ensure their continued independence and objectivity and achievement of their control objectives. Their
remunerations are recommended by the relevant Board committees and approved by the Board.
The remunerations of senior executives are recommended to the Board by the Governance and Remuneration
Committee. The remunerations aim to incentivize management to achieve the strategic objectives of the Bank and
create long-term value while acting within the Bank’s risk profile and appetite.
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VI.4 The Remuneration of Directors
The procedures for setting the remunerations for the Chairperson and the members of the Board of Directors are
based on the best practices adopted in the banking sector, particularly among the Bank’s comparable banking
institutions. All directors receive an annual fixed fee in return for their board membership. Independent directors
also receive a fixed fee for each committee meeting they attend as part of their committee(s) membership and
a fixed fee for each committee meeting they chair. In their capacity as board members, directors do not receive
performance based remunerations.

VII. Professional Conduct Rules
Fenicia Bank S.A.L. ensures that the Bank at all employee levels abides by the highest standards of legal and ethical
conduct. The Bank has developed a Code of Conduct and established mechanisms for monitoring compliance to the
Code and to all applicable laws and regulations. It has developed procedures for employees to confidentially report
any violations and for the Bank to act upon and resolve the faced issues.
Fenicia Bank S.A.L. is strongly committed to the following values that frame the scheme of its activities within and
outside the work environment:

Fast Service 		

(We satisfy customer needs at the time they need the service)

Efficiency

(We execute operations within a small margin of error)

Neutrality

(We show no favors and engage in no discriminatory behavior)

Integrity

(We act ethically and honestly towards our organization and stakeholders)

Consistency

(We maintain uniformity across our products and services to ensure customer satisfaction)

Innovation

(We propose new ideas and/or ways of doing things)

Accountability		

(We hold the responsibility for and consequences of our actions)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS – PROFILES
MR.ABDUL RAZZAK ACHOUR

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lebanese, born in 1965.
Chairman of the Board of Directors and General Manager of Fenicia Bank s.a.l. since
1994, enriching the bank with more than 25 years of experience.
Chairman of several committees namely: Assets and Liabilities (ALCO), Anti Money
Laundry, Credit Rating, and Credit of Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Chairman of the Board and General Manager of Bellevue Company s.a.l (Real Estate
Company).
Board member of Trust Construction Company s.a.l. (Construction Company).
Board member in Achour Group (Trade, Manufacturing, Transportation and
Construction).
Member of World Union of Arab Bankers.
Board member of the Lebanese Banking Association for more than 15 years.
Committed to the civil society and to social responsibility, Mr. Achour serves as a
Board Member in the Children Cancer Center – Lebanon (CCCL).
Throughout his career in the banking and non banking sector, Mr. Achour has been
recognized for his strategic vision, leadership skills, and innovative way of doing
business.
Holder of Bachelor Degree in Business Administration and Accounting from Lucien
Coormans Institute - Brussels and a degree in International Commerce Studies from
ICAD – Paris.

MR. ABDALLAH ACHOUR

•
•
•
•
•

Lebanese, born in 1958.
Major shareholder of Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Non-Executive Board Member of Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Board Member of Bellevue Co. s.a.l. (Real Estate Company). Also a Board Member in
Achour Group, managing and co-managing several affiliated companies dealing with
different lines of business with international trade exposure.
Serves as a Board Member in different organizations, specifically in the field of sports.
He is currently the president of “Al Sadaka” sporting club (Beirut-Lebanon) and the
president of The Handball Federation in Lebanon.

MR. YOUSSEF MERHI

•
•
•
•
•
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Lebanese, born in 1938.
Non-Executive Board Member and member of the Audit, Corporate Governance and
Remuneration Committee of Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Board Member of Bellevue Company s.a.l. (Real Estate Company).
Driven by ambition and entrepreneurship, he is the owner of a recognizable company
chain in Africa (DRC), (Manufacturing, Electronic Devices, Clothes, and Shoes).
Pioneer investor in the Lebanese real estate sector through financing the construction
of a variety of big projects all across Lebanon.
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MR. AZIZ MACARON

•
•
•
•

•

Lebanese, born in 1940.
Non-Executive Board Member and member of the Audit Committee, Corporate
Governance and Remuneration Committee of Fenicia Bank s.a.l..
Board Member of Bellevue Company s.a.l. (Real Estate Company).
Being an ambitious businessman and bold entrepreneur, he owns a Farm and Real
Estate agency in the region of Bekaa – Lebanon. Also, Owner of Dada Company in
DRC, and owner of a recognizable company chain in Africa (DRC), (Manufacturing,
Electronic Devices, Clothes, Shoes).
Holder of several rewards including the highest reward in DRC: “Chevalier de l’ordre
National du Leopard” as an appreciation of his achievements in the commerce and
industry sectors.

DR. ASAAD KOSHAISH

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•

Lebanese, born in 1953.
Assistant General Manager of Fenicia Bank since 2002 and an Executive member of
its Board of Directors since 2012.
Has accumulated more than 17 years with Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
FATCA & CRS representative officer at Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Member of several committees mainly: Credit, Risk, ALCO, AML, Credit Rating and
AML Board committee of Fenicia Bank s.a.l..
Held leading positions in different local and international banks: Al Ahli Bank of
Qatar- Doha, Mashreq Bank - Doha, Mashreq Bank – Dubai. Also in the non -banking
sector: Geonex International Incorporated, Florida, USA, and Middle East Banking
Company, Beirut, Lebanon.
Professor at different universities: Lebanese University, Islamic University of Lebanon,
and Lebanese International University.
Holder of a PhD in Economics from the American University of London, MBA from
University of New Hampshire, BA in Accounting & Finance and BA in Marketing &
Administration from the Lebanese University, and Diploma in Banking studies and
Central Bank Regulations from Saint Joseph University.

DR. GEORGE NAJJAR

•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
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Lebanese, born in 1948
Independent Board Member of Fenicia Bank s.a.l. since 2012
Chairman of Risk Committee and Governance and Remuneration Committee at
Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
He currently serves as Provost and Professor of Management at the Lebanese
American University, and Special Advisor to the President and CEO of AACSB (The
US-based Global Business School Accreditation Body) for the Middle East and Africa.
Also, member of the board of trustees of several GCC universities in Bahrain, UAE
and Oman.
Formerly, Independent Board Member of the National Bank of Kuwait (Lebanon).
Founding Dean of the Olayan School of Business, American University of Beirut
2000- 2012
Vice President for Regional External Programs –AUB- 1997-2006
Holder of a PhD Degree in Management from the University of Southern California,
and Master’s and Bachelor’s Degrees from the American University of Beirut.
Holder of the John Fernandes Strategic leadership award by the Academy of Strategic
and Entrepreneurial Leadership in the US for the year 2012 and the International
Educator award by the U.S. Academy of International Business for the year 2017.
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MR. MOHSEN NAAMANI

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lebanese, born in 1946.
Has accumulated more than 27 years with Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Assistant General Manager of Fenicia Bank since 2002 and an Executive member of
its Board of Directors since 2012.
Chairman of Information Security Committee and member of several committees
mainly: Risk, ALCO, AML, Credit Rating and AML Board Committee of Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Joined Fenicia Bank s.a.l. in July 1992 and held the position of Branches and
Organization Manager.
Held many senior positions in different banks: Bank of Beirut s.a.l., Societe Nouvelle
de la Banque de Syrie et du Liban.
Holder of a Bachelor Degree in Chemistry from the Lebanese University.

MR. SARKIS YOGHOURTJIAN

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•

Annual Report 2019

Lebanese-American, born in 1959
Independent Board Member of Fenicia Bank s.a.l. since June 2018
Chairman of AML Board Committee at Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Currently serves as Senior Advisor for Financial Integrity Network in Washington, D.C.
Recently retired from the Federal Reserve Board, Washington, D.C., after more than
32 years of service, was an Advisor and Assistant Director for banking supervision
and regulation in the United States, in addition to being a Consultant and Advisor for
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and The World Bank.
Seconded as Advisor to the Bank for International Settlements’ (BIS) Financial
Stability Institute during its formative years.
Co-Chairman of the Advisory Group of the Asia Pacific Economic Cooperation
(APEC) Financial Regulators’ Initiative.
Chairman of the Consultative Group of the MENA Financial Regulators’ Initiative
which is part of the U.S. Government’s Middle East Partnership Initiative.
Served as Senior Commissioned Bank Examiner at the Federal Reserve Bank of
Chicago’s Supervision and Regulation Department and a Credit Analyst in the
Commercial Lending Department of Bank One Wisconsin.
Former Instructor at the School of Business at Gateway College.
A rich background in a number of extracurricular and civic activities such as serving
as the Chairman of the Employees Committee of the Federal Reserve Board; Chicago
Area Business Account Executive for United Way charitable organization; and a
member of the Faculty Search and Screen Committee for the University of Wisconsin.
Holds a B.S. Degree in Business Management from the University of Wisconsin and
American Bankers Association Graduate Diploma from the University of Oklahoma.
Recipient of the highest Medal of Honor in 2012 from the President of the Republic
of Armenia for his notable services in the establishment and modernization of the
Central Bank of Armenia.
Recipient of the Lifetime Achievement Award in 2017 from the Union of Arab Banks.
Renowned speaker at international conferences around the world on bank regulatory
and supervisory issues and challenges.
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DR. SAMER KHALIL

•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•
•
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Lebanese, born in 1972
Independent Board Member of Fenicia Bank s.a.l. and Chair of the Audit Committee
as of 2020
Chairman of Audit Committee of Fenicia Bank s.a.l.
Currently serves as Associate Professor of Accounting at the American University of
Beirut and is a former Chairperson for the Finance, Accounting, and Managerial
Accounting Track.
Career path encompasses financial reporting (Construction, Retail, Oil and Gas) with
extensive exposure to internal and external audit, Management Consultancy
(Restructuring), as well as Business Valuation in the MENA region (Oil and Gas,
Logistics, Commercial and Islamic Banks, Retail, Fragrances, among others).
Served as a board member for a Holding Company in Saudi Arabia and as a financial
consultant for various high net worth individuals
Published articles related to Corporate Governance (External Audit and Board of
Directors) as well as Mergers and Acquisitions in reputable Accounting and Finance
Journals
Conducted executive training workshops for leading companies operating in the
Financial Services, Logistics, Retail industries across the MENA region
Holder of a PhD in Accounting from Concordia University, Canada; an MBA (Finance),
BBA, as well as BS (Biology) from the American University of Beirut; and the
International Certified Valuation Specialist, Canada.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS – PROFILES
Shareholders

Nationality

Shares in Capital

Achour Family

Lebanese

74%

Maacaron Family

Lebanese

15%

Merhi Family

Lebanese

10%

Others

Lebanese

1%

Management (*)
CHAIRMAN & GENERAL MANAGER
Mr. Abdul Razzak ACHOUR
ASSISTANT GENERAL MANAGER
Dr. Asaad KOSHAISH
Mr. Mohsen NAAMANI
ADVISORS TO THE CHAIRMAN
Dr. Ibrahim HAMMOUD

Credit

Dr. Habib KOBEISSY

Information Technology

Lawyer Dr. Paul MORCOS

Compliance

DIVISONS, DEPARTEMNTS & UNITS
Mrs. Hala ACHOUR SAFIEDDINE

Administration & H.R. Manager

Mr. Sami BACHIR

Corporate & SME Credit Manager

Dr. Samir BARAKAT

Specialized Loans Manager

Mr. Hachem FADLALLAH

International Trade & Correspondent Banking Manager

Mrs. Samar HAMDAN

Accounting Manager

Mrs. Nada KARAKI

Operations & Treasury Manager

Dr. Antoine KARAM

Electronic Banking Manager

Mr. Izzat MSHEIK

Risk Manager

Mr. Sami NEHME

AML Unit Manager

Mr. Houssam RAMADAN

Information Technology Manager

Mrs. Rania SAAB

Retail Credit & Product Development Manager

Mr. Ahmed SALEH

Information Security & Business Continuity Manager

Mr, Bilal SBEITY

Internal Audit Manager

BRANCHES NETWORK
Dr. Ali BADRAN

Branches Network Manager

Mr. Mohamad HAMADEH

Regional Manager – South -

LEGAL ADVISORS (*)
Me. Waddah EL-CHAER
Me. Charles GHAFARI

EXTERNAL AUDITORS (*)
Kudos Middle East
Pricewaterhousecoopers
(*) By Alphabetical Order
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

Independent auditors’ report
to the shareholders of FENICIA BANK S.A.L.
Report on the audit of the financial statements

liquidity risk, credit risk, solvency and capital
management risk in the financial statements. The impact
of this matter and the possible effects if the going
concern basis of preparation were to be inappropriate
are pervasive to the financial statements.

Disclaimer of opinion

In addition to our disclaimer of opinion resulting from
the going concern assessment noted above, the
following matters have been identified that indicate the
financial statements are materially misstated:

We do not express an opinion on the financial statements
of Fenicia Bank S.A.L. Because of the significance of the
matters described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion
section of our report, we have not been able to obtain
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis
for an audit opinion on these financial statements.

Measurement and disclosures of financial assets at
amortised cost
At 31 December 2019 and as mentioned in note 1.3,
financial assets at amortised cost include US$
denominated Eurobonds, Treasury bills, Certificates of
Deposit, other Lebanese debt instruments and balances
with the Central Bank and local banks totaling LL 1.62
trillion, net of an ECL of LL 27.35 billion, which are
considered credit impaired due to the current economic
crisis in Lebanon, as fully described in note 1.2.

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of
Fenicia Bank S.A.L. (the “Bank”), which comprise:
•

the balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;

•

the statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

•

the statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

•

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

•

the notes to the financial statements, which include
significant
accounting
policies
and
other
explanatory information.

Although, as set out in note 3.1.4, management has
performed an assessment of the expected credit losses
(“ECL”) on its exposure to these financial assets that
has resulted in an ECL of LL 27.35 billion, the impairment
assessment does not reflect the full severity of the
economic crisis in Lebanon. This would have required
these assets to be further credit impaired resulting in a
significant increase in the ECL which we are unable to
quantify.

Basis for disclaimer of opinion
Going concern assessment

Financial assets at amortised cost also include loans
and advances to customers of LL 681.57 billion, which
are stated net of an ECL of LL 88.04 billion and debtors
by acceptance of LL 27.21 billion, which are stated net of
an ECL of LL 72 million. The ECL does not fully reflect
the impact of the economic crisis in Lebanon, thus
resulting in the requirement for additional impairment
which we are unable to fully quantify. The assessment is
not sufficiently detailed and does not appropriately
include, amongst others, classification of exposures into
various stages, multiple scenarios and weighting,
consideration of forward-looking information and loss
given default.

The deteriorating economic environment in Lebanon, as
fully described in note 1, has had a severe negative
impact on the measurement of a significant proportion
of financial assets held by the Bank, which in turn, has
implications on the Bank’s going concern assessment.
These conditions also have a consequential impact on
the Bank’s solvency, liquidity, profitability and equity
and its ability to comply with the regulatory requirements
governing banks in Lebanon.
These events and conditions indicate that a material
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on
the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern.
However, the Bank has not provided us with a detailed
assessment supporting the use of going concern as a
basis of preparation of the financial statements that
takes into account the severity of the current
uncertainties. We were, therefore, unable to perform
sufficient audit procedures in order to assess the
appropriateness of the going concern basis used by
management for the preparation of these financial
statements. In addition, the Bank has not provided
sufficient disclosures pertaining to going concern,
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The Bank has, therefore, not effectively implemented
the requirements of International Financial Reporting
Standard (“IFRS”) 9, “Financial Instruments”, in its ECL
assessment and consequently has not recognised the
appropriate level of impairment on these financial
assets aggregating LL 2.33 trillion. This constitutes a
significant departure from IFRS 9.
In addition, interest income of LL 179.54 billion was
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income,
and accrued interest of LL 39.79 billion was included in
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the carrying amount of these financial assets in the
balance sheet, based on the gross carrying amount of
Eurobonds, Treasury Bills, Certificates of Deposit,
balances with the Central Bank and local banks, and
loans and advances to customers. However, since most
of these financial assets are credit impaired, interest
income should have been calculated and accrued based
on the carrying amount, net of impairment losses in
accordance with IFRS 9.

initial recognition, was recorded as the difference
between the transaction price and the fair value of the
instrument. However, there should have been no gain as
the transaction price may be considered as a close
approximation of fair value. The recognition of the gain
is not in accordance with IFRS 9 and, consequently,
other assets and net income for the year should be
reduced by LL 5.15 billion.
Key audit matters

Because of the amount and significance of the financial
assets subject to ECL, the complexity of the accounting
standard, the uncertainty surrounding the economic
crisis and the pervasive effect of the financial assets
subject to ECL on the financial position of the Bank at 31
December 2019 and its results for the year then ended,
the financial statements do not comply with the
requirements of IFRS, but we have been unable to
determine the financial effects of these departures from
IFRS 9.

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our
professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period.
Due to the significance of the matters described in the
Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our auditor’s
report, we have not been able to determine whether
there are any key audit matters to communicate in our
report.
Responsibilities of management and those charged
with governance for the financial statements

In addition, management has not included the following
disclosures in the financial statements:
•

all the disclosures required by IFRS 7, “Financial
Instruments – Disclosures”, in particular on inputs,
assumptions, judgements, sensitivity and the overall
qualitative disclosures for managing credit risk;

•

a reliable estimate of the fair value of these assets
(disclosed in note 3.4) as well as all the disclosures
required by IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”, in
particular, on inputs, assumptions, sensitivity and
overall qualitative disclosures on the fair value
determination of these assets.

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and
for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is
responsible for assessing the Bank’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Bank or to cease operations, or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss
As disclosed in note 9, investment securities at fair value
through profit or loss include investments in unlisted
Lebanese funds amounting to LL 4.06 billion, guaranteed
by the Central Bank of Lebanon up to 75% of the
carrying amount. Management has not been able to
determine the fair value of these securities. Consequently,
the carrying amount of these securities at 31 December
2019 does not reflect their fair value. We are, therefore,
not able to determine the adjustments that would
require to be made to the carrying amount of these
securities at 31 December 2019 and, consequently, to
the profit or loss for the year.

Those charged with governance are responsible for
overseeing the Bank’s financial reporting process.
Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements
Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Bank’s
financial statements in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matters described in the Basis
for disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we were
not able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence
to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these financial
statements.

In addition, disclosures required by IFRS 13, in particular
with respect to inputs, assumptions, sensitivity and
overall qualitative disclosures for the fair value
determination are not included in the financial
statements.

Independence
We are independent of the Bank in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA
Code) and the ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in Lebanon. We
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements and the IESBA
Code.

Gain on transactions with the Central Bank of Lebanon
As explained in note 13, the Bank has recognised a gain
of LL 5.15 billion in profit or loss on a special financial
product entered into with the Central Bank (“BDL”).
The fair value was determined by management, based
on their own internal financial model, and the gain, on
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Report on other legal and regulatory requirements
We draw attention to the fact that the matters raised in
the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section above may

have implications on the Bank’s compliance with the
requirements of the Lebanese Code of Commerce, the
Lebanese Code of Money and Credit and the applicable
banking regulations.

PricewaterhouseCoopers					

Beirut, Lebanon
9 October 2020
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Balance sheet
At 31 December 2019
2019

2018

Notes

LL Million

LL Million

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

5

846,855

862,141

Due from banks

6

130,276

157,595

Loans and advances to customers

7

681,566

787,971

Debtors by acceptances

8

27,213

88,735

- at fair value through profit or loss

9

4,064

2,930

- at fair value through other comprehensive income

9

547

541

- at amortised cost

9

754,528

830,534

Right-of-use asset

31

4,895

-

Intangible assets

11

81

59

Investment properties

12

8,664

8,779

Property and equipment

10

31,148

28,313

Other assets

13

10,757

7,443

2,500,594

2,775,041

Non-current assets held for sale

14

10,371

8,057

2,510,965

2,783,098

Assets

Investment securities:

Total assets
Liabilities and equity
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon

15

176,928

246,708

Due to banks

16

213

38,720

Deposits from customers

17

2,066,634

2,158,490

Engagements by acceptances

8

27,285

89,265

Current income tax liability

27

3,306

4,667

Other liabilities

18

10,313

8,023

Lease liability

31

4,362

-

Retirement benefit obligations

19

Total liabilities

5,203

5,533

2,294,244

2,551,406

Shareholders' equity
Share capital

20

100,000

100,000

Legal reserve

20

29,820

27,588

General reserve

20

5,454

5,454

Free reserve restricted to future increases in capital

20

20,589

17,928

Free reserve

20

66,406

57,985

Other reserves

20

423

423

(Loss) profit for the year

20

(5,971)

22,314

Total shareholders' equity

216,721

231,692

Total liabilities and equity

2,510,965

2,783,098

The financial statements on pages 21 to 91 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors and
signed on their behalf by Mr. Abdul Razzak Achour, Chairman, on 9 October 2020.

The notes on pages 25 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 December 2019
2019

2018

Notes

LL Million

LL Million

Interest and similar income

21

179,540

156,845

Interest and similar expenses

21

(146,597)

(111,381)

Net interest income

21

32,943

45,464

23

(24,781)

(1,164)

8,162

44,300

22

11,628

13,367

Fee and commission expense

22

(469)

(621)

Net fee and commission income

22

11,159

12,746

Net gain (loss) on financial assets at amortised cost

9

1,163

(267)

Gain on transactions with BDL

13

5,149

-

Personnel expenses

24

(15,004)

(14,762)

General and administrative expenses

25

(6,206)

(10,134)

Depreciation and amortisation charges

26

(1,984)

(1,680)

Other operating income

3,157

2,668

Profit before income tax

5,596

32,871

(11,567)

(10,557)

(5,971)

22,314

-

-

(5,971)

22,314

Net impairment charges
Net interest income after loan impairment charges
Fee and commission income

Income tax expense

27

(Loss) profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive (loss) income for the year

The notes on pages 25 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Share
capital

Legal
reserve

General
Reserve

Reserve for
unspecified
banking risks

Free reserve
for capital
increase

Profit (loss)
for the year

Free
reserve

Other
reserves

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

100,000

25,959

-

22,668

15,851

16,298

55,078

598

236,452

-

-

(19,068)

-

-

-

-

-

(19,068)

100,000

25,959

(19,068)

22,668

15,851

16,298

55,078

598

217,384

Total comprehensive
income for the year

-

-

-

-

-

22,314

-

-

22,314

Dividends declared (note 20)

-

-

-

-

-

(8,000)

-

-

(8,000)

Inter-reserve transfers

-

-

22,837

(22,668)

-

-

-

(169)

-

Other appropriations (note 20)

-

1,629

1,685

-

2,077

(8,298)

2,907

(6)

(6)

Total transactions with owners
recognised directly in equity

-

1,629

24,522

(22,668)

2,077

(16,298)

2,907

(175)

(8,006)

At 31 December 2018

100,000

27,588

5,454

-

17,928

22,314

57,985

423

231,692

At 1 January 2019

At 1 January 2018, as previously
reported
Impact of adopting
IFRS 9 at 1 January 2018
At 1 January 2018, as restated

100,000

27,588

5,454

-

17,928

22,314

57,985

423

231,692

Total comprehensive
loss for the year

-

-

-

-

-

(5,971)

-

-

(5,971)

Dividends declared (note 20)

-

-

-

-

-

(9,000)

-

-

(9,000)

Other appropriations (note 20)

-

2,232

-

-

2,661

(13,314)

8,421

-

-

Total transactions with owners
recognised directly in equity

-

2,232

-

-

2,661

(22,314)

8,421

-

(9,000)

100,000

29,820

5,454

-

20,589

(5,971)

66,406

423

216,721

At 31 December 2019

The notes on pages 25 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Annual Report 2019

23

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

Statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2019
Notes

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

5,596

32,871

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation charges

26

1,984

1,680

Net impairment charges

23

24,781

1,164

Provision for retirement benefit obligations

19

330

462

21

(32,943)

(45,464)

(51,002)

(272,380)

Net interest income
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

18,401

(50)

Loans and advances to customers

107,434

(45,564)

Investment securities at amortised cost

65,038

48,390

Investment securities at fair value through profit or loss

(1,134)

-

(6)

-

Due from banks

Investment securities at fair value through OCI
Other assets
Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
Due to banks
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
Cash used in operations

(3,919)

(38)

(69,573)

117,185

(38,149)

7,962

(100,005)

43,595

2,702

675

(70,465)

(109,512)

165,417

146,275

Interest paid

(138,724)

(106,932)

Income tax paid

(12,928)

(7,066)

Interest received

(660)

(157)

(57,360)

(77,392)

10

(3,800)

(1,910)

Acquisition of intangible assets

11

(58)

(2)

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

10

4

-

(3,854)

(1,912)

Employee benefits paid

19

Net cash used in operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property and equipment

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Dividends paid

20

(9,000)

(8,000)

Principal elements of lease payments

31

(1,015)

-

Net cash used in financing activities

(10,015)

(8,000)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents

(71,229)

(87,304)

28

273,086

360,390

28

201,857

273,086

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

During 2019, the principal non-cash transaction relates to the increase in lease liability of LL 5.09 billion, decrease in
prepayments of LL 679 million and increase in right-of-use asset amounting to LL 5.77 billion (note 32) following
the adoption of IFRS 16.

The notes on pages 25 to 91 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2019
1 General information

of payments on all of its US Dollar denominated
Eurobonds.

1.1 Bank information

The ability of the Lebanese government and the banking
sector in Lebanon to borrow funds from international
markets was significantly reduced. Banks in Lebanon
have restricted access to US Dollars and have frozen
company credit facilities, which has in turn created
significant liquidity pressure. Banks have implemented
their own foreign exchange controls that prohibit US
Dollar transfers outside Lebanon and limit the amount
of US Dollars that may be withdrawn from accounts, all
of which added to the disruption of the country’s
economic activity, as the economic model of Lebanon
relies mainly on imports and consumption.

Fenicia Bank S.A.L. (the “Bank”) offers a full range of
retail, private and commercial banking activities to its
customers. The Bank’s operations cover all districts in
Lebanon.
The Bank is a Lebanese joint stock company registered
since 1962 at the Lebanese Commercial Register in
Beirut under No. 11923 in the name of Bank of Kuwait
and the Arab World S.A.L. It is listed under number 58 in
the list of Lebanese banks regulated by the Central
Bank of Lebanon (“BDL”). The address of its registered
office is as follows:

On 30 April 2020, the Council of Ministers approved the
Lebanese government’s Financial Recovery Plan (the
“Plan”). The Plan includes a preliminary estimation of
losses that will result from the impact of the economic
crisis, the restructuring of the government’s debt and
assets held at the BDL and impairment of these
securities as well as the impairment of banks’ credit
portfolios. The Lebanese Prime Minister and the
Lebanese Finance Minister signed a request for aid from
the International Monetary Fund (IMF) and commenced
discussions on 1 May 2020. There has been no further
indications on the outcome of discussions.

P.O. Box: 113–6248, Beirut Central District, Beirut –
Lebanon. The Bank changed its name to Fenicia Bank
S.A.L. on 20 December 2010.

1.2 General economic and financial situation

Lebanon is experiencing a severe financial crisis that is
impacting the banking sector and the economic and
business environment more generally. The impact
includes a significant public debt burden (above 150%
of GDP), high interest rates, a level of country risk that
is far above normal and increasing unemployment. This
has created liquidity pressures in most businesses. The
crisis also led to the resignation of the Council of
Ministers of Lebanon on 29 October 2019. A new
Government was formed on 21 January 2020 which has
begun to focus on urgent measures including the
settlement of Eurobonds and has requested the
technical assistance of the International Monetary Fund.

Subsequent to a devastating explosion at the Beirut
Port, the Lebanese government resigned on 10 August
2020. To date there has been no replacement announced.
All the above have resulted in:

•

Lebanon’s sovereign debt amounted approximately to
US$ 92 billion at 31 December 2019 and consisted of
Lebanese Pounds debt of approximately 63% and
foreign currencies of 37% of the total debt.
Approximately, 87% of Lebanese Pounds debt is held by
Lebanese banks and the Central Bank and only
approximately a third of US Dollar debt is held by
foreign funds and financial institutions, the remaining
foreign currency debt is held by either local lenders
(mainly banks) or the Central Bank.

•
•
•
•
•
•

Lebanon’s sovereign credit rating was already
downgraded by international credit rating agencies to
imminent default and the rating of commercial banks to
selective default. Banks were further downgraded as a
result of actions undertaken by the Central Bank of
Lebanon. On 7 March 2020, the government announced
that it will withhold payment on the bonds due on 9
March 2020, which was followed by another
announcement on 23 March 2020 for the discontinuation
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A general slowdown in economic activity leading to
lower revenue and cash flows and an increased risk
of asset impairment;
Increased actual and expected credit losses for all
companies;
Some companies not being able to settle their bank
facilities when due;
Increased unemployment, inflation and poverty to
unprecedented levels
Emergence of an unofficial exchange rate in the
foreign exchange market (note 4);
Increased cost of obtaining hard currency; and
Uncertainty about whether some entities can
continue as going concerns.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

1.3 Impact on the Bank

The Bank-specific areas for consideration, arising from the economic situation described in note 1.2 are set out
below:
Gross balance as of
31 December 2019

ECL as of 31
December 2019

Currency

LL Million

LL Million

Balances with Central Bank (i)

LL

259,111

-

Balances with Central Bank (i)

Foreign currencies

590,464

10,993

Investment securities at amortised cost –
sovereign (i)

LL

508,244

-

Investment securities at amortised cost –
sovereign (i)

Foreign currencies

248,399

15,645

Investment securities at amortised cost – other
exposure (iv)

All currencies

14,029

499

Balances with local banks (iii)

All currencies

22,155

209

Debtors by acceptances (ii)

All currencies

27,285

72

Loans and advances to customers (ii)

All currencies

Financial assets

769,602

88,036

2,439,289

115,454

(i) Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon and investments in Lebanese Treasury Bills, US$ Eurobonds and
Certificates of Deposits:
The ECL for the above financial assets was determined in accordance with the regulatory ratios included in Central
Bank Intermediary Circular 542 issued on 3 February 2020. The Circular provides for an ECL provision of Nil on the
sovereign exposure in local currency and a maximum provision of 9.45% on the sovereign exposure in foreign
currency and of 1.89% on the Central Bank exposure in foreign currency.
The calculation of the ECL allowance is inconsistent with the requirements of IFRS 9. Consequently, a further
impairment adjustment would be required in order to reduce the carrying amount of the above financial assets to
their recoverable amount as per IFRS 9. The impact is expected to be pervasive but cannot be ascertained until,
amongst other things, a debt restructuring programme has been put in place that is mutually agreed between the
government and the holders of the government bonds.
(ii) Loans and advances to customers and debtors by acceptances:
At 31 December 2019, the Bank held loans and advances to customers of LL 682 billion net of an ECL of LL 88 billion
and debtors by acceptances of LL 27 billion net of an ECL of LL 72 million. The credit exposure by stage as disclosed
in note 3.1.4 is summarised below:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

345,246

120,127

769,602

Loans and advances to customers
Gross balance

304,229

ECL

(473)

(13,710)

(73,853)

(88,036)

Carrying amount

303,756

331,536

46,274

681,566

Gross balance

14,845

12,440

-

27,285

Loss allowance

(9)

(63)

-

(72)

Carrying amount

14,836

12,377

-

27,213

Debtors by acceptances

As a result of the adverse economic conditions and the deepening of the recession, the credit quality of the loans
portfolio has significantly deteriorated since the last quarter of 2019.
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Management is reviewing its portfolio and following up
closely on loans and advances to customers, including
where appropriate, the renegotiating and rescheduling
of loans. During the first seven months of the year 2020,
gross loans and advance to customers decreased from
LL 770 billion as at 31 December 2019 to LL 601 billion
as at 31 July 2020.

•
•

Loss allowances on loans and advances have been
estimated and recorded based on the best available
information at the reporting date. The exercise
performed by management is expected to reveal
additional losses in the loan portfolio when final
agreements will be reached. The impact will be reflected
in the financial statements once the results become
measurable and determinable.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
The Bank has prepared these financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS interpretations committee
(“IFRS IC”) applicable to entities reporting under IFRS.

2.1 Basis of preparation

(iii) Balances with local banks:

The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRS Interpretation Committee
(“IFRS IC”) interpretations as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). The financial
statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which have
been measured at fair value.

The Bank held bank deposits with local banks of LL
21.95 billion net of an ECL of LL 209 million. Management
believe that the ECL on inter-bank accounts and term
placements is not material as the funds can be used
within the country without any limitation.
(iv) Investment securities at amortised cost – other
exposure:
The Bank held other Lebanese investment securities at
amortised cost amounting to LL 13.5 billion net of an
ECL of LL 499 million.

The disclosures of risks relating to financial instruments
are presented in the financial risk management report
contained in note 3.

(v) Exchange rate:

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Bank’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the financial statements
are disclosed in note 4.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in US Dollar
were converted at the official exchange rate at 31
December 2019 (refer note 4 - Critical estimates and
judgements).
(vi) Unofficial capital (foreign exchange) controls:
The unofficial capital (foreign exchange) controls
implemented by banks in Lebanon might expose the
Bank to litigation that will be dealt with on a case by
case basis if and when they occur.

2.1.1 Going concern
As mentioned in note 1, the current economic situation
and the outbreak of Covid-19 (see note 33) may cast
significant doubt on the Bank’s ability to continue as a
going concern.

Management is currently assessing the impact of the
matters described above which have a significant
impact on the equity and liquidity of the Bank. This will
require management to prepare a comprehensive plan
that addresses these needs, including a recapitalisation
of the Bank, once this assessment becomes final and
definite.

However, the directors believe that it is appropriate to
prepare the financial statements on a going concern
basis because the Bank is exploring various liquidity
measures to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall
due.

However, in the interim, management have implemented
the following measures to mitigate the effects of the
prevailing economic situation:

•
•

2.1.2 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a) New standards, amendments and interpretations
adopted by the Bank

Continuing to take the appropriate commercial
decisions to optimize the operations and ensure
that the business is able to continue and at the right
size;
Reducing the cost of funds in accordance with BDL
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Intermediary circular number 544 dated 13 February
2020;
Securing its liquidity needs mainly by borrowing
from the Central Bank of Lebanon at the available
rates; and
Securing US Dollar cash contributions from its
shareholders of LL 46.34 billion (note 33), after the
end of the reporting date, pursuant to BDL
intermediary circular 532 dated 13 December 2019.

The Bank has applied the following standards and
amendments for the first time for its annual reporting
period commencing 1 January 2019.
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For lessors, the accounting stays remains mainly
unchanged. However, as the IASB has updated the
guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the
guidance on the combination and separation of
contracts), lessors will also be affected by the new
standard. At the very least, the new accounting model
for lessees is expected to impact negotiations between
lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration.

- Amendments to IAS 19, ‘Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement’ – These amendments require an entity to:

•
•

use updated assumptions to determine current
service cost and net interest for the reminder of
the period after a plan amendment, curtailment
or settlement; and
recognise in profit or loss as part of past service
cost, or a gain or loss on settlement, any reduction
in a surplus, even if that surplus was not previously
recognised because of the impact of the asset
ceiling.

The Bank had to change its accounting policies as a
result of adopting IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ and elected to adopt
the new rules retrospectively but recognised the
cumulative effect of initially applying the new standard
on 1 January 2019 (refer to note 32).

There is no material impact on the financial statements
of the Bank from the adoption of this new standard on 1
January 2019.
- IFRIC 23 ‘Uncertainty over income tax treatments’ –
The interpretation addresses the determination of
taxable profit (tax loss) tax bases, unused tax credits
and tax rates, when there is uncertainty over income tax
treatments under IAS 12. It specifically considers:

•
•
•
•

(b) New standards, amendments and interpretations
issued but not effective for the financial year beginning
on or after 1 January 2019 and not early adopted by the
Bank:
The following new standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December
2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted
by the Bank:

Whether tax treatments should be considered
collectively;
Assumptions for taxation authorities;
The determination of taxable profit (tax loss), tax
bases, unused tax losses, and tax rates; and
The effect of changes in facts and circumstances.

- Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 on the definition of
material – These amendments to IAS 1, ‘Presentation of
financial statements’, and IAS 8, ‘Accounting policies,
changes in accounting estimates and errors’, and
consequential amendments to other IFRSs:

There is no material impact on the financial statements
of the Bank from the adoption of above interpretations
on 1 January 2019.

•

- Annual improvements 2015–2017 – These amendments
include minor changes to the following standards:

•
•
•
•

•

IFRS 3, ‘Business combinations’, – a company
remeasures its previously held interest in a joint
operation when it obtains control of the business.
IFRS 11, ‘Joint arrangements’, – a company does not
remeasure its previously held interest in a joint
operation when it obtains joint control of the
business.
IAS 12, ‘Income taxes’ – a company accounts for all
income tax consequences of dividend payments in
the same way.
IAS 23, ‘Borrowing costs’ – a company treats as part
of general borrowings any borrowing originally
made to develop an asset when the asset is ready
for its intended use or sale.

•

Management anticipates that these new standards,
interpretations and amendments will be adopted in the
Bank’s financial statements as and when they are
applicable.
There are no other relevant applicable new standards
and amendments to published standards or IFRIC
interpretations that have been issued but are not
effective for the first time for the Bank’s financial year
beginning on 1 January 2019 that would be expected to
have a material impact on the financial statements of
the Bank.

- IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ – This standard replaces the current
guidance in IAS 17 and is a far reaching change in
accounting by lessees in particular. Under IAS 17, lessees
were required to make a distinction between a finance
lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off
balance sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise
a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a
‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The
IASB has included an optional exemption for certain
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets;
however, this exemption can only be applied by lessees.
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use a consistent definition of materiality throughout
IFRSs and the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting;
clarify the explanation of the definition of material;
and
incorporate some of the guidance in IAS 1 about
immaterial information.

2.2 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are
measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the Bank operates (‘the functional
currency’). The financial statements are presented in
Lebanese Pounds (“LL”), which is the Bank’s functional
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and presentation currency. All figures are presented in LL
million, unless specifically otherewise stated.
(b) Transactions and balances

initial recognition - the Bank calculates the creditadjusted effective interest rate, which is calculated
based on the amortised cost of the financial asset
instead of its gross carrying amount and incorporates
the impact of expected credit losses in estimated future
cash flows.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. Monetary items
denominated in foreign currency are translated with the
closing rate as at the reporting date. Non-monetary
items measured at historical cost denominated in a
foreign currency are translated with the exchange rate
as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary items
in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.

When the Bank revises the estimates of future cash
flows, the carrying amount of the respective financial
assets or financial liability is adjusted to reflect the new
estimate discounted using the original effective interest
rate. Any changes are recognised in profit or loss.
Interest income
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of financial
assets, except for:
- POCI financial assets, for which the original creditadjusted effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost of the financial asset.
- Financial assets that are not ‘POCI’ but have
subsequently become credit-impaired (or stage 3’), for
which interest revenue is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to their amortised cost (i.e. net of
the expected credit loss provision).

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities
denominated in foreign currency are analysed between
translation differences resulting from changes in
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the
carrying amount of the security. Translation differences
related to changes in amortised cost are recognised in
profit or loss.

Initial recognition and measurement
Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are recognised in the profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation
differences on non-monetary financial instruments such
as equities measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are included in other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. Regular way purchases
and sales of financial assets are recognised on tradedate, the date on which the Bank commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

2.3 Financial assets and liabilities

At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial
asset or financial liability at its fair value plus or minus,
in the case of a financial asset or financial liability not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that
are incremental and directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of the financial asset or financial
liability, such as fees and commissions. Transaction
costs of financial assets and financial liabilities carried
at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit
or loss.

2.3.1 Measurement methods
Amortised cost and effective interest rate
The amortised cost is the amount at which the financial
asset or financial liability is measured at initial
recognition minus the principle repayments, plus or
minus the cumulative amortisation using the effective
interest method of any difference between that initial
amount and the maturity amount and, for financial
assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Immediately after initial recognition, an expected credit
loss allowance (ECL) is recognised for financial assets
measured at amortised cost and investments in debt
instruments measured at FVOCI which results in an
accounting loss being recognised in profit or loss when
an asset is newly originated.

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or
financial liability to the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset (i.e. its amortised cost before any
impairment allowance) or to the amortised cost of a
financial liability. The calculation does not consider
expected credit losses and includes transaction costs,
premiums or discounts and fees and points paid or
received that are integral to the effective interest rate,
such as origination fees. For purchased or originated
credit-impaired (‘POCI’) financial assets - assets that
are credit-impaired (see definition on note 3.1.3.2) at
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When the fair value of financial assets and liabilities
differs from the transaction price on initial recognition,
the entity recognises the difference as follows:
- When the fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in
an active market for an identical asset or liability (i.e. a
Level 1 input) or based on a valuation technique that
uses only data from observable markets, the difference
is recognised as a gain or loss.
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- In all other cases, the difference is deferred and the
timing of recognition of deferred day one profit or loss
is determined individually. It is either amortised over the
life of the instrument, deferred until the instrument’s fair
value can be determined using market observable
inputs, or realised through settlement.

2.3.2 Financial assets
(a) Classification and subsequent measurement
The Bank classifies its financial assets in the following
measurement categories:

•
•
•

Fair value through profit or loss (FVPL);
Fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI); and
Amortised cost.

Debt instruments
Debt instruments are those instruments that meet the
definition of a financial liability from the issuer’s
perspective, such as loans, government and corporate
bonds.
Classification and subsequent measurement of debt
instruments depend on:

•
•

the Bank’s business model for managing the asset;
and
the cash flow characteristics of the asset.

Based on these factors, the Bank classifies its debt
instruments into one of the following three measurement
categories:
Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’), and
that are not designated at FVPL, are measured at
amortised cost. The carrying amount of these assets is
adjusted by any expected credit loss allowance
recognised and measured as described in note 3.1.3.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
‘Interest and similar income’ using the effective interest
rate method.
Fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI): Financial assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the assets, where
the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of
principal and interest, and that are not designated at
FVPL, are measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).
Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or
losses, interest revenue and foreign exchange gains and
losses on the instrument’s amortised cost which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is
derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in ‘Net gains on investment
securities’. Interest income from these financial assets is
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included in ‘Interest and similar income’ using the
effective interest rate method.
Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not
meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVOCI are
measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or
loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured
at fair value through profit or loss and is not part of a
hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss and
presented in the profit or loss statement within ‘Net
trading income’ in the period in which it arises, unless it
arises from debt instruments that were designated at
fair value or which are not held for trading, in which
case they are presented separately in ‘Net investment
income’. Interest income from these financial assets is
included in ‘Interest income’ using the effective interest
rate method.
Business model: the business model reflects how the
Bank manages the assets in order to generate cash
flows. That is, whether the Bank’s objective is solely to
collect the contractual cash flows from the assets or is
to collect both the contractual cash flows and cash
flows arising from the sale of assets. If neither of these
is applicable (e.g. financial assets are held for trading
purposes), then the financial assets are classified as part
of ‘other’ business model and measured at FVPL.
Factors considered by the Bank in determining the
business model for a group of assets include past
experience on how the cash flows for these assets were
collected, how the asset’s performance is evaluated and
reported to key management personnel, how risks are
assessed and managed and how managers are
compensated.
SPPI: Where the business model is to hold assets to
collect contractual cash flows or to collect contractual
cash flows and sell, the Bank assesses whether the
financial instruments’ cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest (the ‘SPPI test’). In
making this assessment, the Bank considers whether
the contractual cash flows are consistent with a basic
lending arrangement i.e. interest includes only
consideration for the time value of money, credit risk,
other basic lending risks and a profit margin that is
consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Where the
contractual terms introduce exposure to risk or volatility
that are inconsistent with a basic lending arrangement,
the related financial asset is classified and measured at
fair value through profit or loss.
The Bank reclassifies debt investments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes. The reclassification takes place from the start
of the first reporting period following the change. Such
changes are expected to be very infrequent and none
occurred during the period.
Fair value option for financial assets
The Bank may also irrevocably designate financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss if doing so
significantly reduces or eliminates a mismatch created
by assets and liabilities being measured on different
bases.

30

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

where the renegotiation was driven by the debtor being
unable to make the originally agreed payments.
Differences in the carrying amount are also recognised
in profit or loss as a gain or loss on derecognition.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments are instruments that meet the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective; that is,
instruments that do not contain a contractual obligation
to pay and that evidence a residual interest in the
issuer’s net assets.

If the terms are not substantially different, the
renegotiation or modification does not result in
derecognition, and the Bank recalculates the gross
carrying amount based on the revised cash flows of the
financial asset and recognises a modification gain or
loss in profit or loss. The new gross carrying amount is
recalculated by discounting the modified cash flows at
the original effective interest rate.

The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss, except where the
Bank’s management has elected, at initial recognition,
to irrevocably designate an equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The Bank’s
policy is to designate equity investments as FVOCI
when those investments are held for purposes other
than to generate investment returns. When this election
is used, fair value gains and losses are recognised in OCI
and are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss,
including on disposal.

(c) Derecognition other than on a modification
Financial assets, or a portion thereof, are derecognised
when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows
from the assets have expired, or when they have been
transferred and either (i) the Bank transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership, or (ii) the Bank
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership and the Bank has not retained
control.

Dividends, when representing a return on such
investments, continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other income when the Bank’s right to receive
payments is established.
Gains and losses on equity investments at FVPL are
included in the ‘Net gains on investment securities at
fair value through profit or loss’ line in the statement of
profit or loss.

The Bank enters into transactions where it retains the
contractual rights to receive cash flows from assets but
assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash
flows to other entities and transfers substantially all of
the risks and rewards. These transactions are accounted
for as ‘pass through’ transfers that result in derecognition
if the Bank:

(b) Modification of loans
The Bank sometimes renegotiates or otherwise modifies
the contractual cash flows of loans to customers. When
this happens, the Bank assesses whether or not the new
terms are substantially different to the original terms.
The Bank does this by considering, among others, the
following factors:

- Has no obligation to make payments unless it collects
equivalent amounts from the assets;
- Is prohibited from selling or pledging the assets; and
- Has an obligation to remit any cash it collects from the
assets without material delay.

- If the borrower is in financial difficulty, whether the
modification merely reduces the contractual cash flows
to amounts the borrower is expected to be able to pay;
- Whether any substantial new terms are introduced,
such as a profit share/equity-based return that
substantially affects the risk profile of the loan;
- Significant extension of the loan term when the
borrower is not in financial difficulty;
- Significant change in the interest rate;
- Change in the currency the loan is denominated in;
- Insertion of collateral, other security or credit
enhancements that significantly affect the credit risk
associated with the loan.

Collateral (shares and bonds) furnished by the Bank
under standard repurchase agreements and securities
lending and borrowing transactions are not derecognised
because the Bank retains substantially all the risks and
rewards on the basis of the predetermined repurchase
price, and the criteria for derecognition are therefore
not met. This also applies to certain securitisation
transactions in which the Bank retains a subordinated
residual interest.

If the terms are substantially different, the Bank
derecognises the original financial asset and recognises
a ‘new’ asset at fair value and recalculates a new
effective interest rate for the asset. The date of
renegotiation is consequently considered to be the date
of initial recognition for impairment calculation
purposes, including for the purpose of determining
whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred.
However, the Bank also assesses whether the new
financial asset recognised is deemed to be creditimpaired at initial recognition, especially in circumstances

The Bank holds financial liabilities at amortised cost.
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are due
to Central bank, deposits from banks, and deposits from
customers.
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2.3.3 Financial liabilities
(a) Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
this classification is applied to derivatives, financial
liabilities held for trading and other financial liabilities
designated as such on initial recognition. Gains or losses
on financial liabilities designated at fair value through
profit or loss are presented partially in other
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comprehensive income (the change in fair value due to
credit risk) and partially profit or loss (the remaining
amount of change in the fair value of the liability). This
is unless such a presentation would create, or enlarge,
an accounting mismatch, in which case the gains and
losses attributable to changes in the credit risk of the
liability are also presented in profit or loss;

- The amount of the loss allowance (calculated as
described in note 3.1.3); and
- The premium received on initial recognition less
income recognised in accordance with the principles of
IFRS 15.
Loan commitments provided by the Bank are measured
as the amount of the loss allowance (calculated as
described in note 3.1.3). The Bank has not provided any
commitment to provide loans at a below-market interest
rate, or that can be settled net in cash or by delivering
or issuing another financial instrument.

- Financial liabilities arising from the transfer of financial
assets which did not qualify for derecognition whereby
for financial liability is recognised for the consideration
received for the transfer. In subsequent periods, the
Bank recognises any expense incurred on the financial
liability; and
- Financial guarantee contracts and loan commitments.

For loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision.

(b) Derecognition

2.3.5 Determination of fair value

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they are
extinguished (i.e. when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the
determination of fair values of financial assets and
financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations.

The exchange between the Bank and its original lenders
of debt instruments with substantially different terms,
as well as substantial modifications of the terms of
existing financial liabilities, are accounted for as an
extinguishment of the original financial liability and the
recognition of a new financial liability.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active
market if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those
prices represent actual and regularly occurring market
transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The terms are substantially different if the discounted
present value of the cash flows under the new terms,
including any fees paid net of any fees received and
discounted using the original effective interest rate, is at
least 10% different from the discounted present value of
the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.

If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded
as being inactive. Indications that a market is inactive
are when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant
increase in the
bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions.

In addition, other qualitative factors, such as the
currency that the instrument is denominated in, changes
in the type of interest rate, new conversion features
attached to the instrument and change in covenants are
also taken into consideration. If an exchange of debt
instruments or modification of terms is accounted for as
an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the
extinguishment. If the exchange or modification is not
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees
incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability and
are amortised over the remaining term of the modified
liability.

For all other financial instruments, fair value is
determined using valuation techniques. In these
techniques, fair values are estimated from observable
data in respect of similar financial instruments, using
widely recognised models to estimate the present value
of expected future cash flows or other valuation
techniques, using inputs (for example, LIBOR yield
curve, FX rates, credit default swap spreads) existing at
the dates of the balance sheet.

2.3.6 Sale and repurchase agreements
Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements
(“repos”) are reclassified in the financial statements as
pledged assets when the transferee has the right by
contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral;
the counterparty liability is included in deposits from
banks or deposits from customers, as appropriate.
Securities purchased under agreements to resell
(“reverse repos”) are recorded as loans and advances to
other banks or customers, as appropriate. The difference
between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest
and accrued over the life of the agreements using the
effective interest method.

2.3.4 Financial guarantee contracts and loan
commitments
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require
the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payments when due, in accordance with
the terms of a debt instrument. Such financial guarantees
are given to banks, financial institutions and others on
behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and
other banking facilities.
Financial guarantee contracts are initially measured at
fair value and subsequently measured at the higher of:
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2.4 Classes of financial instruments
The Bank classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflect the nature of information and take into account
the characteristics of those financial instruments. The classification made can be seen in the table below:
Category

Class

(as defined by IFRS 9)

(as determined by the Bank)

Subclass

Due from banks and balances with the Central Bank
Loans and
advances
to customers and
debtors by
acceptances

At amortised cost
Financial Assets

- Housing
Loans to individuals

Loans to corporate
entities

- Retail
- Meduim & long
term
- SMEs
- Large corporate
entities

Investment securities - debt
instruments

Unlisted and listed

At fair value through profit
or loss

Investment securities:
Equity instruments
Debt securities

Unlisted and listed

At fair value through other
comprehensive income

Equity instruments

Unlisted and listed

Financial liabilities

Due to banks

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

Off balance sheet financial
instruments

Deposits from customers
Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
Loan commitments

Guarantees and other financial facilities

2.5 Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts or there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and losses arising
from a group of similar transactions such as in the Bank’s trading activity.

2.6 Fair value measurement
The Bank measures financial instruments and non-financial assets, at fair value at each balance sheet date. Also, fair
values of financial instruments measured at amortised cost are disclosed in the notes.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either:

•
•

in the principal market for the asset or liability, or
in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Bank. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best interest.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.
The Bank uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
Annual Report 2019
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All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

•
•
•

loss allowance is measured.

2.8 Leases
As explained in note 2.1.2 (a), the Bank has changed its
accounting policy for leases where the Bank is the
lessee. The new policy is described in note 31 and the
impact of the change in note 32.

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in
active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is directly or indirectly observable;
and
Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable.

Until 31 December 2018, leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership were not
transferred to the Bank as lessee were classified as
operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor)
were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the period of the lease.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Bank
determines whether transfers have occurred between
Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

Lease income from operating leases where the Bank is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight line basis
over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in
obtaining an operating lease are added to the carrying
amount of the underlying asset and recognised as
expense over the lease term on the same basis as lease
income. The respective leased assets are included in the
balance sheet based on their nature. The Bank did not
need to make any adjustments to the accounting for
assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new
leasing standard.

Management determines the policies and procedures
for both recurring fair value measurement, such as
investment properties and unquoted financial assets,
and for non-recurring measurement.
At each reporting date, the management analyses the
movements in the values of assets and liabilities which
are required to be re-measured or re-assessed as per
the Bank’s accounting policies. For this analysis, the
management verifies the major inputs applied in the
latest valuation by agreeing the information in the
valuation computation to contracts and other relevant
documents.

2.9 Recognition of income and expenses
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and the
revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific
recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is
recognised.
(i) Interest and similar income and expenses

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Bank has
determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis
of the nature, characteristics and risks of the asset or
liability and the level of the fair value hierarchy as
explained above.

For all financial instruments measured at amortised
cost, and financial instruments designated at fair value
through profit or loss, interest income or expense is
recorded using the effective interest rate, which is the
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments or receipts through the expected life of the
financial instrument or a shorter period, where
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset or financial liability. The calculation takes into
account all contractual terms of the financial instrument
and includes any fees or incremental costs that are
directly attributable to the instrument and are an
integral part of the effective interest rate, but not future
credit losses.

2.7 Impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses on a forward looking-basis the
expected credit losses (ECL) associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost and FVOCI and
with the exposure arising from loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts.
The Bank recognises a loss allowance for such losses at
each reporting date. The measurement of ECL reflects:

The carrying amount of the financial asset or financial
liability is adjusted if the Bank revises its estimates of
payments or receipts. The adjusted carrying amount is
calculated based on the original effective interest rate
and the change in the carrying amount is recorded as
“Interest and similar income” for financial assets and
“Interest and similar expense” for financial liabilities.

- An unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes;
- The time value of money; and
- Reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

Once the recorded value of a financial asset or a group
of similar financial assets has been reduced due to an

Note 3 provides more detail of how the expected credit
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impairment loss, interest income continues to be
recognised using the rate of interest used to discount
the future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the
impairment loss.

Years
Buildings
Leaseholds improvements
Office and computer equipment

(ii) Fee and commission income
The Bank earns fee and commission income from a
diverse range of services it provides to its customers.

7
5-7

Furniture and fixtures

13

Vehicles

17

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the balance
sheet.

Fees earned for the provision of services over a period
of time are accrued over that period. These fees include
private banking, custody and other management and
advisory fees.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use.

Loan commitment fees for loans that are likely to be
drawn down and other credit related fees are deferred
(together with any incremental costs) and recognised
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the
loan. When it is unlikely that a loan be drawn down, the
loan commitment fees are recognised over the
commitment period on a straight line basis.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in other operating income in the statement of
comprehensive income.

(iii) Dividend income

2.12 Intangible assets

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive
income is established. Usually, this is the ex-dividend
date for quoted equity securities.

Intangible assets comprise mainly computer software
licences. Intangible assets are stated at cost. Intangible
assets with a definite useful life are amortised using the
straight-line method over their estimated useful
economic life. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful
life are not amortised. At each date of the balance sheet,
intangible assets are reviewed for indications of
impairment or changes in estimated future economic
benefits. If such indications exist, the intangible assets
are analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is
fully recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised if
the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand,
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term, highly
liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value.

2.11 Property and equipment

Computer software licences

Land and buildings comprise mainly branches and
offices. All property and equipment is stated at historical
cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to
use the specific software. These costs are amortised on
the basis of the expected useful lives. Software has a
maximum expected useful life of 5 years.

Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or are recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Bank and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repair and maintenance costs
are charged to other operating expenses during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

2.13 Investment properties
Properties that are held for long-term rental yields or
for capital appreciation or both, and that are not
occupied by the Bank, are classified as investment
properties. Investment properties comprise office
buildings leased out under operating lease agreements.
Some properties may be partially occupied by the Bank,
with the remainder being held for rental income or
capital appreciation. If that part of the property
occupied by the Bank can be sold separately, the Bank
accounts for the portions separately. The portion that is
owner-occupied is accounted for as property and
equipment (ie. IAS 16), and the portion that is held for
rental income or capital appreciation or both is treated
as investment property

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation of other assets is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, as follows:
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(ie. IAS 40). When the portions cannot be sold
separately, the whole property is treated as investment
property only if an insignificant portion is owneroccupied. In order to determine the percentage of the
portions, the Bank uses the size of the property
measured in square meter.

valuation model is used. These calculations are
corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share
prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available
fair value indicators.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognized impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication
exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has
been a change in the assumptions used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised.

Investment properties are measured initially at cost,
including transaction costs. The carrying amount
includes the cost of replacing parts of an existing
investment property at the time the cost has incurred if
the recognition criteria are met; and excludes the costs
of day-to-day servicing of an investment property.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties
are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment, if any. Subsequent expenditure is included
in the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Bank and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance
costs are charged to the statement of comprehensive
income during the financial period in which they are
incurred.

The reversal is limited so that the carrying amount of
the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor
exceeds the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment
loss been recognized for the asset in prior years. Such
reversal is recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income.
Impairment losses relating to goodwill cannot be
reversed in future periods.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over their estimated useful lives of 50 years.

2.15 Retirement benefit obligations

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each date of the balance
sheet. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The Bank is subscribed to the compulsory defined
benefit plan of the National Social Security Fund.
IAS 19 ‘Employee benefits’ requirements:
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an
amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors
such as age, years of service or compensation. The
liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of
the defined benefit plan is the present value of the
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less
contributions to the fund. The present value of the
defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates
of government securities that have terms to maturity
approximating the terms of the related pension liability.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s fair value
less costs to sell and value in use.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in other operating income in the statement of
comprehensive income.

2.14 Impairment of non-financial assets

Local requirements:

The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there
is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If any
indication exists, or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required, the Bank estimates the asset’s
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is
the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s fair
value less costs to sell and its value in use. Where the
carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered
impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.
In assessing the value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pretax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

The compulsory defined benefit plan varies according
to each employee’s final salary and length of service,
subject to the completion of a minimum service period.
The provision is calculated based on the difference
between total indemnities due and total monthly
contributions paid to National Social Security Fund
(‘’NSSF’’), End-of-Service Indemnity contributions paid
to NSSF represents 8.5 percent of employee benefits.
The difference between the carrying amount of the
provision and its value in accordance with IAS 19 is not
significant.

2.16 Taxation

In determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate
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regulations applicable in Lebanon.

recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.

(a) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to
interpretation.
It
establishes
provisions
where
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be
paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on
tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Current tax and deferred tax relating to items recognised
directly in equity are also recognised in equity and not
in the statement of comprehensive income.

(b) Deferred income tax
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same
taxation authority.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences at
the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are
recognized for all taxable temporary differences, except:

•

•

(c) Tax on dividends
Where the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss.

The Bank is also subject to distribution tax of 10% on
declared dividends.

2.17 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Bank has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will
be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has
been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

In respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the
carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:

•

Where the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

•

In respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the
provision due to passage of time is recognised as
interest expense.

2.18 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.19 Dividend distribution

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit
will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at each balance sheet date and are
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2.20 Acceptances

effects on the Bank’s financial performance.

Acceptances are recognised as a financial liability in the
balance sheet with a contractual right of reimbursement
from the customer as a financial asset. Therefore,
commitments in respect of acceptances have been
accounted for as financial assets and financial liabilities.

The Bank’s board of directors provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as guidance covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest
rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative and non-derivative
financial instruments.

2.21 Non-current assets held for sale

A Risk Committee has been established to assist the
Board in assessing the different types of risk to which
the Bank is exposed, as well as its risk management
structure, organisation and processes.

Non-current assets held for sale are acquired from
customers in settlement of their debt. The Bank
exercises its ownership rights over the real estate
collateral or acquires the customer’s real estate property
when it exhausts all other reasonable means for
collecting non-performing loans.

The Board’s Risk committee is responsible for monitoring
compliance with the Bank’s risk management policies
and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the
risk management framework in relation to the risks
faced by the Bank.

Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale
when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally
through a sale transaction and a sale is considered
highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying
amount and fair value less cost to sell since their carrying
amount is to be recovered principally through a sale
transaction rather than through continuing use.

The Risk Management function is responsible for
formulating policies to manage credit, market and
operational risk. Experienced and trained risk officers
have delegated authority within the risk management
framework to review credit risk transactions, monitor
market and operational risks and report to the Chief
Risk Officer.

2.22 Comparatives

The Board Audit Committee is assisted in its oversight
role by the Internal Audit Unit. The Internal Audit Unit
undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews over risk
management controls and procedures, the results of
which are reported to the Audit Committee.

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or
requires otherwise, all amounts are reported or disclosed
with comparative information.

3 Financial risk management

The Bank defines risk as the possibility of losses or
profits foregone, which may be caused by internal or
external factors.

The core responsibility of the Risk Management function
is to identify, measure, mitigate, price and manage risk
to ensure that the Bank generates sustainable returns
by maintaining acceptable asset quality and meeting
the desired return on capital as mandated by the
shareholders.

The risks arising from financial instruments to which the
Bank is exposed are financial risks, which include credit
risk, market risk, liquidity risk and operational risk
(which are discussed below).

The Bank has exposure to the following primary risks:
-

3.1 Credit risk

Credit risk
Liquidity risk
Market risk
Operational risk

Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should
any of the Bank’s customers, clients or market
counterparties fail to fulfill their contractual obligations
to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial
and consumer loans and advances, credit cards, and
loan commitments arising from such lending activities,
financial guarantees, letters of credit, endorsements
and acceptances.

The Bank’s ability to consistently foster a robust risk
management culture and framework is an important
factor in its financial stability and growth.
Risk management framework

The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising
from investments in debt securities and other exposures
arising from its trading activities (“trading exposures”),
including
non-equity
trading
portfolio
assets,
derivatives,
settlement
balances
with
market
counterparties and repurchase agreements.

The Bank’s business involves taking on risks in a targeted
manner and managing them professionally. The core
functions of the Bank’s risk management are to identify
all key risks for the Bank, measure these risks, manage
the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The
Bank regularly reviews its risk management policies and
systems to reflect changes in markets, products and
best market practice.

Credit risk is the single largest risk for the Bank’s
business; management therefore carefully manages its
exposure to credit risk. The credit risk section specialises
in the management of the credit risk for individuals as

The Bank’s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance
between risk and return and minimise potential adverse
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well as the credit portfolio in general, in addition to the
credit monitoring function.

The Bank further controls its exposure to credit losses
by entering into master netting arrangements with
counterparties with which it undertakes a significant
volume of transactions. Master netting arrangements
do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet
assets and liabilities, as transactions are usually settled
on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated
with favourable contracts is reduced by a master netting
arrangement to the extent that if a default occurs, all
amounts with the counterparty are terminated and
settled on a net basis.

3.1.1 Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Bank manages limits and control concentrations of
credit risk wherever they are identified - in particular, to
individual counterparties and groups, and to industries
and countries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes
by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers, and to
geographical and industry segments.

(c) Financial covenants (for credit related commitments
and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure
that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same
credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the
Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party
to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount
under specific terms and conditions – are collateralised
by the underlying shipments of goods to which they
relate, in addition to a required credit margin set by the
credit committee based on the credit rating of each
customer and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.

Lending limits are reviewed in the light of changing
market and economic conditions and periodic credit
reviews and assessments of probability of default.
Some other specific control and mitigation measures
are outlined below:
(a) Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to
mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the
taking of security for funds advances, which is common
practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit
risk mitigation.

Commitments to extend credit represent unused
portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form
of loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to
credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is
potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the
total unused commitments. However, the likely amount
of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as
most commitments to extend credit are contingent
upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.

The principal collateral types for loans and advances
are:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Real estate mortgages over residential and
commercial properties;
Charges over business assets such as premises,
inventory, machinery and vehicles;
Personal guarantees;
Salary domiciliation;
Letters of credit and documentary collections;
Cash collaterals; and
Financial instruments collaterals.

The Bank monitors the term to maturity of credit
commitments because longer-term commitments
generally have a greater degree of credit risk than
shorter-term commitments.

3.1.2 Credit risk measurement

Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities
are generally secured; revolving individual credit
facilities are generally unsecured. In addition, in order to
minimise the credit loss, the Bank will seek additional
collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment
indicators are identified for the relevant individual loans
and advances.

(a) Loans and advances (including loan commitments
and guarantees)
The estimation of credit exposure for risk management
purposes is complex and requires the use of models, as
the exposure varies with changes in market conditions,
expected cash flows and the passage of time. The
assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails
further estimations as to the likelihood of defaults
occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default
correlations between counterparties. The Bank
measures credit risk using the concept of Expected
Loss which requires the following measures:

Collateral held as security for financial assets other than
loans and advances is determined by the nature of the
instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible
bills are generally unsecured. Reverse repurchase
agreements are collateralised by the Central Bank of
Lebanon Certificates of Deposit for the period of the
facility.

•
•
•

(b) Master netting arrangements

Probability of Default (PD)
Loss Given Default (LGD)
Exposure at Default (EAD)

Refer to note 3.1.3 for more details.
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Credit risk grading
To measure the credit risk of loans and advances to customers, the Bank rates its counterparties based on the rating
models as defined by the Central Bank of Lebanon (“BDL”) basic circular no. 58:
Supervisory classification

Internal loan grading system

Definition

Excellent

The loan is expected to be repaid on a timely and
consistent basis.

Normal

Strong
Good

Follow-up

The loan is expected to be repaid but the client’s
file is not complete.

Satisfactory
Adequate
Marginal

Follow-up and regularisation

The client is still able to fulfil its obligations with the
presence of some weaknesses that may lead to a
lower probability of repayment if not addressed.

Vulnerable

The client has a difficult financial condition and
might not be in a position to settle the loan in full.

Sub-standard

Sub-standard

Doubtful

Doubtful

There is no movement in the clients' balance.

Bad

Bad

The probability of repayment is low and almost nil.

(b) Investments and placements with Banks
For investments and placements with Banks, external rating agency credit grades are used. These published grades
are continuously monitored and updated. The PD’s associated with each grade are determined based on realised
default rates, as published by the rating agency.

3.1.3 Expected credit loss measurement
IFRS 9 outlines a ‘three-stage’ model for impairment based on changes in credit quality since initial recognition of
a facility as summarised below:

•
•
•
•
•
•

A financial instrument that is not credit-impaired on initial recognition is classified in ‘Stage 1’ and has its credit
risk continuously monitored by the Bank.
If a significant increase in credit risk (‘SICR’) since initial recognition is identified, the financial instrument is
moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The identification of SICR is measured via a
change in one year probability of default between the date of inception of facility and the date of IFRS 9 ECL
run.
If the financial instrument is credit-impaired, the financial instrument is then moved to ‘Stage 3’.
Financial assets in Stage 1 have their ECL measured at an amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected
credit losses that result from default events possible within the next 12 months. Instruments in Stages 2 or 3
have their ECL measured based on expected credit losses on a lifetime basis.
A pervasive concept in measuring the ECL in accordance with IFRS 9 is that it should consider forward-looking
information.
Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets are those financial assets that are credit impaired on
initial recognition. Their ECL is always measured on a lifetime basis (Stage 3).

Further explanation is also provided of how the Bank determines appropriate groupings when ECL is measured on
a collective basis (refer to note 3.1.3.45

3.1.3.1 Significant increase in credit risk (SICR)
The Bank considers a financial asset to have experienced a significant increase in credit risk when a significant
change in one year probability of default occurs between the origination date of a specific facility and the date that
the IFRS9 ECL is calculated.
Quantitative criteria
(a) Loans and advances to customers:
For loans and advances to customers, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of default
which can be triggered by the following quantitative factors:

Annual Report 2019

40

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

•
•
•
•

Classification of the customer as follow-up and
regularisation as per credit risk grading;
Sum of credit amounts over a twelve months period
does not cover at least 50% of the overdraft balance;
Accounts overdue between 60 and 90 days;
Excess over the approved limit for more than 3
consecutive months.

when either one of the following events have taken
place:
• The Bank considers that the obligor is unlikely to
pay its credit obligation to the Bank in full without
recourse by the Bank to actions like realising
security (if held).
• The Bank puts the credit obligation on a nonaccrued status.
• The Bank makes a charge-off or account-specific
provision resulting from a perceived decline in
credit quality subsequent to the Bank taking on the
exposure.
• The Bank sells the credit obligation at a material
credit-related economic loss.
• The Bank consents to a distressed restructuring of
the credit obligation where this is likely to result in a
diminished financial obligation caused by the
material forgiveness or postponement of principal,
interest and other fees.
• The Bank has filed for the obligor’s bankruptcy or
similar order in respect of the obligor’s credit
obligation to the Bank.
• Classification of the customer as sub-standard,
doubtful and bad as per credit risk grading

(b) Investments/Treasury
• Significant increase in probability of default of the
underlying treasury instrument;
• Significant change in the investments’ expected
performance and behaviour of borrower;
• Decrease by 2 to 3 notches in Moody’s rating.
Qualitative criteria:
(a) Loans and advances to customers
For commercial loans, if the borrower experiences a
significant increase in probability of default, which can
be triggered by the following Default Risk Indicator’s
(DRI):
• Past Due;
• Net Worth Erosion;
• Restructuring;
• Financial Covenants Breach;
• Significant Operations Disruption;
• Early signs of cash flow or liquidity problems;
• Industry Outlook.

The criteria above have been applied to all financial
instruments held by the Bank and are consistent with
the definition of default used for internal credit risk
management purposes.
The default definition has been applied consistently to
model the Probability of Default (PD), Exposure at
Default (EAD), and Loss Given Default (LGD) throughout
the Bank’s expected loss calculations.
An instrument is considered to no longer be in default
(i.e. to have cured) when it no longer meets any of the
default criteria for a consecutive period of six to twelve
months.

(b) Investments/Treasury
For treasury portfolio if the instruments meet one or
more of the following criteria:
• Significant increase in credit spread;
• Adverse changes in financial and or economic
conditions;
• Restructuring;
• Early signs of cash flow liquidity problems.

3.1.3.3 Measuring ECL – Explanation of inputs,
assumptions and estimation techniques

The Bank has not used the low credit exemption for any
financial instruments in the year ended 31 December
2019.

The Expected Credit Loss (ECL) is measured on either a
12-month (12M) or lifetime basis depending on whether
a significant increase in credit risk has occurred since
the initial recognition of a specific facility or whether an
asset is considered credit-impaired. The Bank has
adopted a forward exposure method for computing the
ECL for each facility.
• The PD represents the likelihood of a borrower
defaulting on its financial obligation (as per
‘Definition of default and credit-impaired’ above),
either over the next 12 months (12M PD), or over the
remaining lifetime (Lifetime PD) of the obligation.
• EAD is based on the amounts the Bank expected to
be owed at the time of default, over the next 12
months (12M EAD) or over the remaining lifetime
(Lifetime EAD).
• LGD represents the Bank’s expectation of the extent
of loss on a defaulted exposure. LGD varies by type
of counterparty, type and seniority of claim and
availability of collateral or other credit support. LGD
is expressed as a percentage loss per unit of
exposure at the time of default (EAD).

3.1.3.2 Definition of default and credit-impaired
assets
The Bank defines a financial corporate, retail and
investment instrument as in default, which is fully
aligned with the definition of credit-impaired, when it
meets one or more of the following criteria:
Quantitative criteria

•
•

The borrower is more than 90 days past due on its
contractual payments;
Outstanding exposure is over limit by 10% for more
than 90 days and the sum of credit amounts over a
one-year period does not cover at least the excess
and 10% of the limit.

Qualitative criteria:
According to the Basel definition, default is considered
to have occurred with regard to particular obligors
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The ECL is determined by projecting the PD, LGD and EAD for each future month and for each individual exposure
or collective segment. This effectively calculates an ECL for each future month, which is then discounted back to
the reporting date and summed. The discount rate used in the ECL calculation is the effective interest rate or an
approximation thereof.
Lifetime expected credit losses are expected credit loss resulting from all probable default events over the expected
lifetime of the financial instrument. Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted average of credit losses and
the weighing factor is the Probability of Default (PD) for a lifetime.
The 12-month and lifetime EADs are determined based on the expected payment profile, which varies by product
type.
• For amortising products and bullet repayments loans, this is based on the contractual repayments owed by the
borrower over a 12 month period or lifetime basis.
• For revolving products, the exposure at default is predicted by taking current drawn balance and adding a
“credit conversion factor” which allows for the expected drawdown of the remaining committed limit by the
time of default.
The 12-month and lifetime LGDs are determined based on the factors which impact the recoveries made post
default. These vary by product type.
• For secured products, this is primarily based on collateral type and projected collateral values, historical
discounts to market/book values due to forced sales, time to repossession and recovery costs observed.
• For unsecured products, LGDs are typically set at product level due to the limited differentiation in recoveries
achieved across different borrowers. These LGDs are influenced by collection strategies, including contracted
debt sales and prices.
Forward-looking economic information is also included in determining the 12-month and lifetime PD. The assumptions
underlying the ECL calculation are monitored and reviewed on a yearly basis.
There have been no significant changes in estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the year.

3.1.3.4 Forward-looking information incorporated in the ECL models
The assessment of SICR and the calculation of ECL both incorporate forward-looking information. The Bank has
performed historical analysis and identified the key economic variables impacting credit risk and expected credit
losses for each portfolio.
These economic variables and their associated impact on the PD vary by financial instrument. Expert judgment has
also been applied in this process. Forecasts of these economic variables (the “base economic scenario”) are based
on the figures published by the International Monetary Fund over the next five years. The impact of these economic
variables on the PD has been determined by performing statistical regression analysis to understand the impact
changes in these variables have had historically on default rates.
Economic variable assumptions
The most significant period-end assumptions used for the ECL estimate as at
31 December 2018 are set out below for loans and advances to customers. The scenarios “base”, “upside” and
“downside” were used for all portfolios.

Unemployment rate %

Inflation rate %

2019

2020

2021

2022

2023

Base

6.20

6.17

6.10

6.04

6.00

Upside

5.00

4.97

4.90

4.84

4.80

Downside

7.40

7.37

7.30

7.24

7.20

Base

2.02

2.01

2.08

2.08

2.03

Upside

(3.59)

(3.60)

(3.54)

(3.54)

(3.58)

Downside

7.63

7.63

7.69

7.69

7.64

The weightings assigned to each economic scenario at 31 December 2018 were as follows:
Base

Upside

Downside

Loans to individuals

86.60%

6.70%

6.70%

Loans to corporate entities

86.60%

6.70%

6.70%
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Sensitivity analysis
The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance are as follows depending on the portfolios:
(i)
Unemployment rate, given its impact on secured and unsecured borrowers’ ability to meet their contractual
repayments; and
(ii)
Inflation rate, given its impact on the performance of the borrowers.
Set out below are the changes to the ECL as at 31 December 2018 that would result from reasonably possible
changes in these parameters from the actual assumptions used in the Bank’s economic variable assumptions:

31 December 2018:
Change in assumption

Impact on EL
In LL million

Unemployment rate

+20%

3,033

Unemployment rate

-20%

(512)

Inflation rate

+20%

481

Inflation rate

-20%

(429)

Where negative numbers shows a decrease in provisions and the positive numbers shows an increase in provisions.

3.1.3.5 Grouping of instruments for losses measured on a collective basis
For expected credit loss provisions modelled on a collective basis, a grouping of exposures is performed on the
basis of shared risk characteristics, such that risk exposures within a group are homogeneous.
In performing this grouping, there must be sufficient information for the group to be statistically credible. Where
sufficient information is not available internally, the Bank has considered benchmarking internal/external
supplementary data to use for modelling purposes. The characteristics and any supplementary data used to
determine groupings are outlined below:
Loans and advances to customers – Groupings for collective measurement

•
•

Product type (e.g. housing, personal loans, car loans)
Repayment type (e.g. repayment/interest only)

The appropriateness of groupings is monitored and reviewed on a periodic basis by the Credit Risk team.

3.1.4 Credit risk exposure
3.1.4.1 Maximum exposure to credit risk - Financial instruments subject to impairment
The following table contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial instruments for which an ECL
allowance is recognised. The gross carrying amount of financial assets below also represents the Bank’s maximum
exposure to credit risk on these assets.
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Credit risk exposure relating to on-balance sheet assets for 31 December 2019 are as follows:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Balances with the Central
Bank of Lebanon

-

849,575

-

849,575

Loss allowance

-

(10,993)

-

(10,993)

Carrying amount

-

838,582

-

838,582

Due from banks

108,850

22,155

146

131,151

Loss allowance

(209)

(520)

(146)

(875)

Carrying amount

108,641

21,635

-

130,276

Loans and advances to
customers

304,229

345,246

120,127

769,602

(473)

(13,710)

(73,853)

(88,036)

303,756

331,536

46,274

681,566

Investment securities at
amortised cost

-

770,672

-

770,672

Loss allowance

-

(16,144)

-

(16,144)

Carrying amount

-

754,528

-

754,528

14,845

12,440

-

27,285

Loss allowance
Carrying amount

Debtors by acceptances
Loss allowance

(9)

(63)

-

(72)

Carrying amount

14,836

12,377

-

27,213

Other assets

2,669

-

-

2,669

Loss allowance

-

-

-

-

Carrying amount

2,669

-

-

2,669

Off-balance sheet items

82,275

14,386

2,538

99,199

Loss allowance
Carrying amount
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Credit risk exposures relating to on-balance sheet assets for 31 December 2018 are as follows:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Balances with the Central
Bank of Lebanon

850,187

-

-

850,187

Loss allowance

(3,816)

-

-

(3,816)

Carrying amount

846,371

-

-

846,371

Due from banks

158,401

-

143

158,544

Loss allowance

(806)

-

(143)

(949)

Carrying amount

157,595

-

-

157,595

Loans and advances to
customers

465,885

280,795

112,562

859,242

(836)

(5,765)

(64,670)

(71,271)

Carrying amount

465,049

275,030

47,892

787,971

Investment securities at
amortised cost

836,301

-

-

836,301

Loss allowance

Loss allowance
Carrying amount
Debtors by acceptances

(5,767)

-

-

(5,767)

830,534

-

-

830,534

82,879

6,386

-

89,265

Loss allowance

(504)

(26)

-

(530)

Carrying amount

82,375

6,360

-

88,735

4,143

-

-

4,143

Other assets
Loss allowance

(74)

-

-

(74)

Carrying amount

4,069

-

-

4,069

Off-balance sheet items

115,395

29,073

2,539

147,007

Loss allowance

(220)

(68)

(314)

(602)

Carrying amount

115,175

29,005

2,225

146,405
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3.1.4.2 Collateral and other credit enhancements
Collateral against loans and advances measured at amortised cost is generally held in the form of mortgage interests
over property, other registered securities over assets and guarantees. Estimates of fair value are based on the value
of the collateral assessed at the time of borrowing. Collateral generally is not held over amounts due from banks,
except when securities are held as part of reverse repurchase and securities borrowing activity.
The Bank closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered to be credit impaired, as it becomes more
likely that the Bank will take possession of the collateral to mitigate potential credit losses. Financial assets that are
credit impaired and related collateral held in order to mitigate potential losses are shown below:
Corporate loans
Loans to
individuals

SMEs

Large corporate
entities

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

9,710

38,447

71,970

120,127

340

4,482

3,575

8,397

9,391

34,131

69,040

112,562

80

3,481

2,838

6,399

31 December 2019
Individually impaired loans
Fair value of collaterals
31 December 2018
Individually impaired loans
Fair value of collaterals

3.1.5 Loss allowance
The following table explain the changes in the loss allowance from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

3,816

-

-

3,816

Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(3,816)

3,816

-

-

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

-

7,177

-

7,177

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

-

10,993

-

10,993

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019

803

-

146

949

Repayment of financial assets

(74)

-

-

(74)

(520)

520

-

-

209

520

146

875

836

5,765

64,670

71,271

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(314)

7,152

-

6,838

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

39

(1,032)

-

(993)

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

-

(1)

23

22

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1

-

-

(4)

(4)

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2

-

46

(185)

(139)

New financial assets originated

62

538

-

600

Due from banks

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019
Loans and advances to customers
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019
Transfers:
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Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

(2)

1,186

875

2,059

Increase in unrealised interest

-

-

8,382

8,382

Financial assets settled during the year

(150)

-

-

(150)

Exchange differences

2

56

302

360

Financial assets derecognised during the year and
write-offs

-

-

(210)

(210)

473

13,710

73,853

88,036

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019

504

26

-

530

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019
Debtors by acceptances
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(13)

21

-

8

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

-

1

-

1

New financial assets originated

1

38

-

39

(483)

(23)

-

(506)

9

63

-

72

5,767

-

-

5,767

Financial assets derecognised during the year and
write-offs
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019
Investment securities at amortised cost
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(5,767)

5,767

-

-

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

-

10,377

-

10,377

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

-

16,144

-

16,144

Other assets as at 1 January 2019
Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

74

-

-

74

(74)

-

-

(74)

-

-

-

-

220

68

314

602

(12)

94

-

82

Off-balance sheet items
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2019
Transfers:
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2
Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

4

(3)

-

1

(7)

5

(314)

(316)

-

11

-

11

Financial assets settled during the year

(173)

(17)

-

(190)

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2019

32

158

-

190

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
New financial assets originated
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The following table explain the changes in the loss allowance from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2018:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018

3,379

-

-

3,379

New financial assets originated

2,201

-

-

2,201

Repayment of financial assets

(449)

-

-

(449)

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

(1,315)

-

-

(1,315)

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

3,816

-

-

3,816

1,051

-

146

1,197

New financial assets originated

66

-

-

66

Repayment of financial assets

(200)

-

-

(200)

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

(114)

-

-

(114)

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

803

-

146

949

934

5,044

59,282

65,260

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(277)

2,733

-

2,456

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3

(10)

-

365

355

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

24

(1,019)

-

(995)

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

-

(377)

962

585

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1

-

-

(470)

(470)

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2

-

-

(1)

(1)

New financial assets originated

142

58

73

273

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

215

411

877

1,503

Due from banks
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018

Loans and advances to customers
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018
Transfers:

Increase in unrealised interest

-

-

7,451

7,451

(192)

(1,085)

(1,806)

(3,083)

Exchange differences

-

-

(351)

(351)

Financial assets derecognised during the year and
write-offs

-

-

(1,712)

(1,712)

836

5,765

64,670

71,271

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018

165

13

-

178

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

342

4

-

346

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(3)

9

-

6

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

504

26

-

530

Financial assets settled during the year

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018
Debtors by acceptances
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Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018

5,836

-

-

5,836

New financial assets originated

2,201

-

-

2,201

Repayment of financial assets

(955)

-

-

(955)

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

(1,315)

-

-

(1,315)

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

5,767

-

-

5,767

Other assets as at 1 January 2018

25

-

-

25

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

49

-

-

49

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

74

-

-

74

306

12

264

582

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(20)

64

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3

(1)

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

1

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

Investment securities at amortised cost

Off-balance sheet items
Loss allowance as at 1 January 2018
Transfers:
-

44

16

15

(6)

-

(5)

-

(3)

-

(3)

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

19

3

34

56

New financial assets originated

3

-

-

3

Financial assets settled during the year

(88)

(2)

-

(90)

Loss allowance as at 31 December 2018

220

68

314

602

Gross carrying amount
The following table further explains the changes in the gross carrying amount from 1 January to 31 December 2019:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

850,187

-

-

850,187

(536,263)

536,263

-

-

Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2
New financial assets originated
Financial assets settled during the year

-

313,312

-

313,312

(313,924)

-

-

(313,924)

-

849,575

-

849,575

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019
Due from banks
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019

158,398

-

146

158,544

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(22,155)

22,155

-

-

Financial assets settled during the year

(27,393)

-

-

(27,393)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

108,850

22,155

146

131,151

465,885

280,795

112,562

859,242

Loans and advances to customers
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019
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Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(145,597)

145,597

-

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

64,994

(64,994)

-

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

-

(421)

421

-

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1

70

-

(70)

-

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2

-

15

(15)

-

New financial assets originated

9,729

205

-

9,934

Increase in existing financial assets

5,937

11,225

9,277

26,439

(1,303)

(3,814)

-

(5,117)

-

-

(2,048)

(2,048)

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs

(95,486)

(23,362)

-

(118,848)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

304,229

345,246

120,127

769,602

Transfers:

Financial assets settled during the year
Financial assets derecognised during the year and
write-offs

Investment securities at amortised cost
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019

836,301

-

-

836,301

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(836,301)

836,301

-

-

New financial assets originated

-

12,060

-

12,060

Repayments during the year

-

(77,689)

-

(77,689)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

-

770,672

-

770,672

82,879

6,386

-

89,265

3,501

7,937

-

11,438

Financial assets settled during the year

(53,273)

(20,145)

-

(73,418)

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(19,412)

19,412

-

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

1,150

(1,150)

-

-

14,845

12,440

-

27,285

4,143

-

-

4,143

Repayments during the year

(1,474)

-

-

(1,474)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

2,669

-

-

2,669

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019

115,395

29,073

2,539

147,007

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(18,073)

18,073

-

-

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1

1

-

(1)

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

18,628

(18,628)

-

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

-

-

-

-

(50,864)

(8,489)

-

(59,353)

New financial assets originated

22,826

3,608

-

26,434

Repayments during the year

(5,638)

(9,251)

-

(14,889)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019

82,275

14,386

2,538

99,199

Debtors by acceptances
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019
New financial assets originated

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2019
Other assets
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2019

Off-balance sheet items

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
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The following table further explains the changes in the gross carrying amount from 1 January to 31 December 2018:
Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018

620,690

-

-

620,690

New financial assets originated

466,616

-

-

466,616

Financial assets settled during the year

(237,119)

-

-

(237,119)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

850,187

-

-

850,187

195,534

-

146

195,680

17,243

-

-

17,243

Financial assets settled during the year

(54,379)

-

-

(54,379)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

158,398

-

146

158,544

595,618

134,226

82,804

812,648

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(145,576)

145,576

-

-

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3

(5,008)

-

5,008

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

25,594

(25,594)

-

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

-

(22,150)

22,150

-

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 1

497

-

(497)

-

Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

Due from banks
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018
New financial assets originated

Loans and advances to customers
Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018
Transfers:

Transfer from stage 3 to stage 2

-

96

(96)

-

New financial assets originated

42,381

10,799

44

53,224

Increase in existing financial assets

75,842

54,661

8,267

138,770

(123,463)

(16,819)

(1,663)

(141,945)

-

-

(3,455)

(3,455)

465,885

280,795

112,562

859,242

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018

885,522

-

-

885,522

New financial assets originated

153,500

-

-

153,500

Repayments during the year

(202,721)

-

-

(202,721)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

836,301

-

-

836,301

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018

70,873

2,012

-

72,885

New financial assets originated

44,248

724

-

44,972

(25,628)

(2,964)

-

(28,592)

Financial assets settled during the year
Financial assets derecognised during the year and
write-offs
Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018
Investment securities at amortised cost

Debtors by acceptances

Financial assets settled during the year
Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(6,614)

6,614

-

-

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

82,879

6,386

-

89,265

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018

4,402

-

-

4,402

Repayments during the year

(259)

-

-

(259)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

4,143

-

-

4,143

Other assets
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Stage 1

Stage 2

Stage 3

12-month ECL

Lifetime ECL

Lifetime ECL

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Gross carrying amount as at 1 January 2018

162,282

11,786

2,424

176,492

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 2

(37,191)

37,191

-

-

Transfer from stage 1 to stage 3

(841)

-

841

-

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 1

2,744

(2,744)

-

-

Off-balance sheet items

Transfer from stage 2 to stage 3

-

(658)

658

-

30,583

1,283

-

31,866

4,337

270

-

4,607

Repayments during the year

(46,519)

(18,055)

(1,384)

(65,958)

Gross carrying amount as at 31 December 2018

115,395

29,073

2,539

147,007

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs
New financial assets originated

Write-off policy
The Bank writes off financial assets, in a whole or in part, when it has exhausted all practical recovery efforts and
has concluded there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery include (i) ceasing enforcement activity and (ii) where the Bank’s recovery method is foreclosing on
collateral and the value of the collateral is such that there is no reasonable expectation of recovering in full. The Bank
may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The Bank still seeks to recover amounts
it is legally owned in full, but which have been partially or fully written off due to no reasonable expectation of
recovery.
Modification of financial assets
The Bank sometimes modifies the terms of loans provided to customers due to commercial renegotiations, or for
distressed loans, with a view to maximising recovery.
The risk of default of such assets after modification is assessed at the reporting date and compared with the risk under
the original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is not substantial, it does not result in derecognition
of the original asset. The Bank may determine that credit risk has significantly improved after restructuring, and
such assets are moved from Stage 3 to Stage 2 (Lifetime ECL) to Stage 1 (12 month ECL). This is only done when
modified assets have performed in accordance with the new terms for twelve consecutive months or more. There
was no renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired amounted to during 2019.
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3.1.6 Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
(a) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure - Geographical sectors
The following table breaks down the Bank’s main credit exposure at their carrying amounts (without taking into
account any collateral held or other credit support), as categorised by geographical region as of 31 December 2019.
For this table, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on the destination of use of funds.

Lebanon

Arab
African European
Other
countries countries countries countries

LL Million

LL Million LL Million

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Assets
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

838,582

-

-

-

-

838,582

21,976

3,127

-

19,313

85,860

130,276

- Housing loans

92,887

3,062

7,512

3,134

3,143

109,738

- Retail loans

13,884

227

920

676

9

15,716

542

-

-

-

-

542

96,844

3,316

39,053

-

-

139,213

- Small and medium size enterprises
(SMEs)

306,020

6,606

42,918

835

2

356,381

- Loans secured by commercial real
estate

54,977

-

4,999

-

-

59,976

25,529

-

1,684

-

-

27,213

754,528

-

-

-

-

754,528

Due from banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans to individuals:

- Medium and long term loans
Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate entities

Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities at amortised cost
Other assets

2,521

-

-

-

-

2,521

2,208,290

16,338

97,086

23,958

89,014

2,434,686

846,371

-

-

-

-

846,371

37,351

4,655

-

27,990

87,599

157,595

- Housing loans

93,922

3,039

8,829

3,288

2,854

111,932

- Retail loans

25,380

373

959

1,409

40

28,161

627

-

-

-

-

627

303,239

12,151

105,432

-

-

420,822

- Small and medium size enterprises
(SMEs)

149,978

5,006

19,617

1,269

-

175,870

- Loans secured by commercial real
estate

48,687

-

1,872

-

-

50,559

Debtors by acceptances

40,349

-

9,311

-

39,075

88,735

Investment securities at amortised cost

830,534

-

-

-

-

830,534

4,069

-

-

-

-

4,069

2,380,507

25,224

146,020

33,956

129,568

2,715,275

At 31 December 2019
Assets
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Due from banks
Loans and advances to customers
Loans to individuals:

- Medium and long term loans
Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate entities

Other assets
At 31 December 2018
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Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows:

Letters of guarantee

Lebanon

Arab
African European
Other
countries countries countries countries

LL Million

LL Million LL Million

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

30,565

3,219

12,354

3

-

46,141

Documentary and commercial letters of
credit

1,960

-

66

-

-

2,026

Undrawn credit facilities

31,997

383

18,374

242

36

51,032

At 31 December 2019

64,522

3,602

30,794

245

36

99,199

Letters of guarantee

33,738

4,057

13,014

4

-

50,813

Documentary and commercial letters of
credit

12,689

-

2,083

-

-

14,772

-

68,794

11,712

872

44

81,422

46,427

72,851

26,809

876

44

147,007

Undrawn credit facilities
At 31 December 2018

(b) Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure - Industry sectors
The following table breaks down the Bank’s credit exposure at carrying amounts (without taking into account any
collateral held or other credit support), as categorised by the industry sectors of the Bank’s counterparties.
Financial
ConManufac- Commerinstitutions struction
turing
cial
LL Million

Other

LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Total
LL Million

Assets
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

838,582

-

-

-

-

838,582

Due from banks

130,276

-

-

-

-

130,276

-

1,732

2,857

103,178

1,971

109,738

52

1,868

521

11,572

1,703

15,716

-

-

-

542

-

542

Loans and advances to customers
Loans to individuals:
- Housing loans
- Retail loans
- Medium to long term loans
Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate entities

10,868

10,964

39,275

78,106

-

139,213

- Small and medium size enterprises
(SMEs)

335

86,646

62,528

176,663

30,209

356,381

- Loans secured by commercial real
estate

-

54,043

5,860

-

73

59,976

-

-

1,595

25,618

-

27,213

754,528

-

-

-

-

754,528

Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities at amortised cost
Other assets
At 31 December 2019

Annual Report 2019

2,521

-

-

-

-
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Financial
ConManufac- Commerinstitutions struction
turing
cial
LL Million

Other

LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Total
LL Million

Assets
Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

846,371

-

-

-

-

846,371

Due from banks

157,595

-

-

-

-

157,595

- Housing loans

21

4,634

3,686

93,965

9,626

111,932

- Retail loans

66

3,728

987

21,025

2,355

28,161

-

-

-

627

-

627

11,392

116,407

91,417

188,100

13,506

420,822

- Small and medium size enterprises
(SMEs)

420

23,397

24,042

111,785

16,226

175,870

- Loans secured by commercial real
estate

-

44,726

5,733

-

100

50,559

Loans and advances to customers
Loans to individuals:

- Medium to long term loans
Loans to corporate entities:
- Large corporate entities

Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities at amortised cost
Other assets
At 31 December 2018

-

455

14,553

73,727

-

88,735

830,534

-

-

-

-

830,534

4,069

-

-

-

-

4,069

1,850,468

193,347

140,418

489,229

41,813

2,715,275

Manufacturing

Commercial

Other

Total

LL Million LL Million

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows:
Financial
institutions
LL Million

Construction

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

765

15,730

11,158

18,172

316

46,141

-

403

-

1,623

-

2,026

Undrawn credit facilities

126

14,916

5,996

27,616

2,378

51,032

At 31 December 2019

891

31,049

17,154

47,411

2,694

99,199

Letters of guarantee

741

18,228

15,654

15,807

383

50,813

-

5,088

829

8,855

-

14,772

913

11,683

18,839

45,036

4,951

81,422

1,654

34,999

35,322

69,698

5,334

147,007

Letters of guarantee
Documentary and commercial letters of
credit

Documentary and commercial letters of
credit
Undrawn credit facilities
At 31 December 2018

3.2 Market risk
The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes market prices. Market risks arise from open positions in interest rate,
currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific market movements and changes in
the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and equity prices.
Banking portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate management of the Bank’s retail and commercial banking
assets and liabilities.
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3.2.1 Market risk management techniques
Effective identification and monitoring of market risk is essential for maintaining stable profit. This is carried out by
the Bank’s risk management department. The Bank’s treasury is responsible for managing the market exposure
within the limits as approved by ALCO and as stipulated by the circulars of Central Bank of Lebanon no. 32 and 81.
The major measurement technique used to measure and control market risk is outlined below.
Sensitivity analysis
A technique used to determine how different values of an independent variable will impact a particular dependent
variable under a given set of assumptions. This technique is used within specific boundaries that will depend on one
or more input variables, such as the effect that changes in interest rates will have on a bond’s price. Sensitivity analysis is a way to predict the outcome of a decision if a situation turns out to be different compared to the key predictions.
The Bank performs this analysis for each type of market risk to which the Bank is exposed at each reporting date,
showing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable that were
reasonably possible at that date.
The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at 31 December 2019 and
2018.

As at 31 December 2019
LL
LL Million

USD

EUR

GBP

CAD

Other

LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Total
LL Million

Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank
Due from banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances

264,389

534,671

46,420

1,375

-

-

846,855

7,811

98,576

22,510

806

18

555

130,276

158,628

477,053

45,871

-

-

14

681,566

-

23,738

3,413

62

-

-

27,213

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

619

3,445

-

-

-

-

4,064

504,681

249,847

-

-

-

-

754,528

2,314

207

-

-

-

-

2,521

938,442

1,387,537

118,214

2,243

18

569

2,447,023

172,887

4,041

-

-

-

-

176,928

49

100

58

3

-

3

213

618,640

1,332,504

113,292

2,074

2

122

2,066,634

-

23,805

3,417

63

-

-

27,285

Investment securities:
- At fair value through OCI
- At fair value through profit or
loss
- At amortised cost
Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of
Lebanon
Due to banks
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities

5,997

3,398

196

18

-

6

9,615

Total financial liabilities

797,573

1,363,848

116,963

2,158

2

131

2,280,675

Net on-balance sheet financial
position

140,869

23,689

1,251

85

16

438

166,348
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As at 31 December 2018
LL
LL Million

USD

EUR

GBP

CAD

Other

LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Total
LL Million

Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank

331,051

476,299

53,678

1,113

-

-

862,141

6,601

119,567

29,493

1,490

17

427

157,595

215,474

506,726

65,771

-

-

-

787,971

-

76,675

12,060

-

-

-

88,735

- At fair value through OCI

492

7

42

-

-

-

541

- At fair value through profit
or loss

-

2,930

-

-

-

-

2,930

541,370

289,164

-

-

-

-

830,534

2,026

1,159

884

-

-

-

4,069

1,097,014

1,472,527

161,928

2,603

17

427

2,734,516

242,865

3,843

-

-

-

-

246,708

8,151

30,541

26

2

-

-

38,720

717,142

1,289,592

149,072

2,575

1

108

2,158,490

Due from banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:

- At amortised cost
Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of
Lebanon
Due to banks
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances

-

77,140

12,125

-

-

-

89,265

4,532

2,276

167

1

-

9

6,985

Total financial liabilities

972,690

1,403,392

161,390

2,578

1

117

2,540,168

Net on-balance sheet financial
position

124,324

69,135

538

25

16

310

194,348

Other liabilities

3.2.3 Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks. Interest margins may
increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.
Management sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate re-pricing that may be undertaken, which is
monitored daily by the Treasury Department.
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The table below summarises the Bank’s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank’s financial instruments
at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual re-pricing or maturity dates.

As at 31 December 2019
Less than
3 months

3–6
months

6 – 12
months

1–5
years

Over 5
years

130,232

55,570

31,540

97,896

361,543

170,074

846,855

3,865

-

63

30,644

-

95,704

130,276

Loans and advances to customers

87,377

63,055

103,320

347,272

73,468

7,074

681,566

Debtors by acceptances

20,433

3,720

520

-

-

2,540

27,213

- At fair value through OCI

-

-

-

-

-

547

547

- At fair value through profit or
loss

-

-

-

-

-

4,064

4,064

60,108

4,787

52,777

287,971

348,323

562

754,528

2,521

-

-

-

-

-

2,521

304,536

127,132

188,220

763,783

783,334

280,565

2,447,570

3,169

3,806

2,628

68,561

98,241

523

176,928

171

-

-

-

-

42

213

1,282,090

410,785

172,702

31,606

-

169,451

2,066,634

20,487

3,730

521

-

-

2,547

27,285

9,615

-

-

-

-

-

9,615

1,315,532

418,321

175,851

100,167

98,241

172,563

2,280,675

12,369

663,616

685,093

LL Million

Non-interTotal
est bearing
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank
Due from banks

Investment securities:

- At amortised cost
Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of
Lebanon
Due to banks
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
Total interest re-pricing gap
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As at 31 December 2018
Less than
3 months
LL Million

3–6
months

6 – 12
months

1–5
years

Over 5
years

Non-interTotal
est bearing
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Assets
Cash and balances with the
Central Bank

101,737

99,495

-

34,107

426,562

200,240

862,141

Due from banks

25,733

-

-

53,973

-

77,889

157,595

Loans and advances to customers

287,201

90,187

10,594

250,022

101,162

48,805

787,971

Debtors by acceptances

70,451

17,333

951

-

-

-

88,735

- At fair value through OCI

-

-

-

-

-

541

541

- At fair value through profit or
loss

-

-

-

-

-

2,930

2,930

3,640

6,628

31,448

350,822

424,180

13,816

830,534

4,069

-

-

-

-

-

4,069

492,831

213,643

42,993

688,924

951,904

344,221

2,734,516

1,560

1,426

3,174

56,498

182,633

1,417

246,708

38,686

-

-

-

-

34

38,720

1,633,586

282,033

132,537

-

-

110,334

2,158,490

Engagements by acceptances

70,981

17,333

951

-

-

-

89,265

Other liabilities

6,985

-

-

-

-

-

6,985

1,751,798

300,792

136,662

56,498

182,633

111,785

2,540,168

(1,258,967)

(87,149)

(93,669)

632,426

769,271

Investment securities:

- At amortised cost
Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of
Lebanon
Due to banks
Deposits from customers

Total financial liabilities
Total interest re-pricing gap

3.3 Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of customer
deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash outflows, such as
debt maturities. Such outflows would deplete available cash resources for client lending, trading activities and
investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in balance sheet and sales of
assets, or potentially an inability to fulfil lending commitments. The risk that the Bank will be unable to do so is
inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and market-wide events
including, but not limited to, credit events, merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural disasters.

3.3.1 Liquidity risk management process
The Bank’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity
to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. The key elements of the Bank’s liquidity strategy are as follows:
• Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met. This
includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers;
• Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any
unforeseen interruption to cash flow;
• Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements;
• Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the balance sheet against internal and regulatory requirements (BDL basic
circulars no. 72, 73, 84, 86 and 87);
• Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities;
• Carrying out stress testing of the Bank’s liquidity position.
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Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and
month, semi-annual and annual basis respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting
point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected
collection date of the financial assets.

3.3.2 Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly set by the Treasury department, while the risk management department and the
Assets and Liabilities Committee (“ALCO”) monitors those sources to maintain a wide diversification by currency,
geography, provider, product and term.

3.3.3 Non-derivative financial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities and assets
held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the date of the balance sheet. The amounts
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flow, whereas the Bank manages the liquidity risk
based on a different basis (see Note 3.3.1 for details), not resulting in a significantly different analysis.

3.3.4 Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities
As at 31 December 2019
1-3
months

3–6
months

6 – 12
months

1–5
years

Over 5
years

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

300,206

55,570

31,540

97,896

361,643

846,855

Due from banks

99,569

-

63

30,644

-

130,276

Loans and advances to customers

94,451

63,055

103,320

347,272

73,468

681,566

Debtors by acceptances

22,973

3,720

520

-

-

27,213

Investment securities at amortised cost

60,670

4,787

52,777

287,971

348,323

754,528

547

-

-

-

-

547

-

-

-

-

4,064

4,064

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank

Investment securities at OCI
Investment securities at FVTPL
Other assets

2,521

-

-

-

-

2,521

580,937

127,132

188,220

763,783

787,498

2,447,570

3,692

3,806

2,628

68,561

98,241

176,928

213

-

-

-

-

213

Deposits from customers

1,451,541

410,785

172,702

31,606

-

2,066,634

Engagements by acceptances

23,034

3,730

521

-

-

27,285

Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
Due to banks

Other liabilities

9,615

-

-

-

-

9,615

Total liabilities

1,488,095

418,321

175,851

100,167

98,241

2,280,675

Net financial (liabilities) assets

(907,158)

(291,189)

12,369

663,616

689,257

166,895
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As at 31 December 2018
1-3
months

3–6
months

6 – 12
months

1–5
years

Over 5
years

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

301,977

99,495

-

34,107

426,562

862,141

Due from banks

103,622

53,973

-

-

-

157,595

Loans and advances to customers

336,006

90,187

10,594

250,022

101,162

787,971

Debtors by acceptances

70,451

17,333

951

-

-

88,735

Investment securities at amortised cost

3,640

20,444

31,448

350,822

424,180

830,534

541

-

-

-

-

541

Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank

Investment securities at OCI
Investment securities at FVTPL

-

-

-

-

2,930

2,930

4,069

-

-

-

-

4,069

820,306

281,432

42,993

634,951

954,834

2,734,516

2,977

1,426

3,174

56,498

182,633

246,708

38,720

-

-

-

-

38,720

1,743,920

282,033

132,537

-

-

2,158,490

Engagements by acceptances

70,981

17,333

951

-

-

89,265

Other liabilities

6,985

-

-

-

-

6,985

Total liabilities

1,863,583

300,792

136,662

56,498

182,633

2,540,168

(1,043,277)

(19,360)

(93,669)

578,453

772,201

194,348

Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities
Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
Due to banks
Deposits from customers

Net financial (liabilities) assets

3.3.5 Assets held for managing liquidity risk
The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality, highly-liquid securities to support payment obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Bank’s assets held for managing liquidity risk
comprise:

•
•
•

Cash and balances with the Central Bank;
Cash and balances with banks; and
Investment in funds.

3.3.6 Off-balance sheet items
(a) Loan commitments
The dates of the contractual amounts of the Bank’s off-balance sheet financial instruments that commit it to customers and other facilities (note 29) are summarised in the table below.
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(b) Other financial facilities and guarantees
Other financial facilities and guarantees (note 29) are also included in the table below based on the earliest contractual maturity date.

No later than
1 year

1 – 5 years

More than 5
years

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

Loan commitments

51,032

-

-

51,032

Documentary and commercial letters of credit with banks

45,134

1,007

-

46,141

At 31 December 2019

Letters of guarantee - clients

2,026

-

-

2,026

Total

98,192

1,007

-

99,199

81,422

-

-

81,422

At 31 December 2018
Loan commitments
Documentary and commercial letters of credit with banks

14,772

-

-

14,772

Letters of guarantee - clients

49,951

862

-

50,813

Total

146,145

862

-

147,007

3.4 Fair values of financial assets and liabilities
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations.
Valuation models
The Bank measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurement.
Quoted market prices – Level 1
Financial instruments are classified as Level 1 if their value is observable in an active market. Such instruments are
valued by reference to unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in active markets where the quoted
price is readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide
pricing information on an ongoing basis.
This category includes liquid government and corporate bonds actively traded through an exchange or clearing
house, and actively traded listed equities.
Valuation technique using observable inputs – Level 2
Financial instruments classified as Level 2 have been valued using models whose most significant inputs are observable in an active market. Such valuation techniques and models incorporate assumptions about factors observable
in an active market, which other market participants would use in their valuations, including interest rate yield curve,
exchange rates, volatilities, and prepayment and defaults rates.
This category includes liquid government and corporate bonds and certificates of deposit, less actively traded
through an exchange or clearing house, non-listed equities and foreign exchange swaps and forwards.
Valuation technique using significant unobservable inputs – Level 3
Financial instruments are classified as Level 3 if their valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs). A valuation input is considered observable if it can be directly observed from transactions in an active market, or if there is compelling external evidence demonstrating an executable exit price. An input is deemed significant if it is shown to contribute more than 10% to the valuation of a financial instrument.

Annual Report 2019

62

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

Unobservable input levels are generally determined based on observable inputs of a similar nature, historical observations or other analytical techniques.
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy of the Bank’s financial instruments.

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total fair
values

Total carrying
amount

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

8,273

-

838,582

846,855

846,855

Due from banks

-

-

130,276

130,276

130,276

Loans and advances to customers

-

-

681,566

681,566

681,566

Debtors by acceptances

-

-

27,213

27,213

27,213

Investment securities at amortised cost

-

136,833

617,695

644,093

754,528

Investment securities at FVTOCI

-

-

547

547

547

Investment securities at FVTPL

-

-

4,064

4,064

4,064

-

2,521

2,521

2,521

8,273

136,833

2,302,464

2,337,135

2,447,570

Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon

-

-

176,928

176,928

176,928

Due to banks

-

-

213

213

213

Deposits from customers

-

-

2,066,634

2,066,634

2,066,634

Engagements by acceptances

-

-

27,285

27,285

27,285

Other liabilities

-

-

9,615

9,615

9,615

Total financial liabilities

-

-

2,280,675

2,280,675

2,280,675

At 31 December 2019
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank

Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities

At 31 December 2018
Assets
Cash and balances with the Central Bank

15,771

-

846,370

862,141

862,141

Due from banks

-

-

157,595

157,595

157,595

Loans and advances to customers

-

-

787,971

787,971

787,971

Debtors by acceptances

-

-

88,735

88,735

88,735

Investment securities at amortised cost

-

180,056

650,478

762,522

830,534

Investment securities at FVTOCI

-

-

541

541

541

Investment securities at FVTPL

-

-

2,930

2,930

2,930

-

-

4,069

4,069

15,771

180,056

2,538,689

2,666,504

2,734,516

Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon

-

-

246,708

246,708

246,708

Due to banks

-

-

38,720

38,720

38,720

Deposits from customers

-

-

2,158,490

2,158,490

2,158,490

Engagements by acceptances

-

-

89,265

89,265

89,265

-

6,985

6,985

6,985

-

2,540,168

2,540,168

2,540,168

Other assets
Total financial assets
Liabilities

Other liabilities
Total financial liabilities
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There were no transfers between levels during 2019
(2018 no transfers).
The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale. Financial
assets and liabilities are classified according to a hierarchy that reflects the significance of observable market
inputs.
(i) Due from banks and balances with the Central Bank
of Lebanon
The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in an active market is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new loans
with similar remaining maturity. The estimated fair value
of the accounts that have a maturity of less than 1 year
is their carrying amount.
(ii) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of provisions for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
represents the discounted amount of estimated future
cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash
flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value.

(vii) Other liabilities
The estimated fair value of the above accounts is their
carrying amount given that their maturity is within 12
months from balance sheet date.

3.5 Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, systems failure, human error, or from external events. When controls fail to
perform, it can lead to legal or regulatory implications,
or financial / reputational loss. The Bank has established
policies and procedures, which are applied to identify,
assess, monitor, control and mitigate operational risk in
addition to other types of risks relating to the banking
and financial activities of the Bank as part of overall risk
management activities.

3.6 Capital management
The Bank’s objectives when managing capital, which is
a broader concept than the ‘equity’ on the face of the
Balance sheet, are:

•
•

(iii) Investment securities
The fair value of investment securities at amortised cost
is based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where quoted market prices are not available, a
discounted cash flow model is used based on a current
yield curve appropriate for the remaining term to maturity. Expected cash flows are discounted at current market rates issued by the Central Bank of Lebanon to determine the fair value.
(iv) Debtors by acceptances and other assets
The estimated fair value of the above accounts is their
carrying amount given that their maturity is less than 1
year.
(v) Due to banks and due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes non-interest bearing deposits, is
the amount repayable on demand. The estimated fair
value of fixed interest-bearing deposits not quoted in
an active market is based on discounted cash flows using interest rates for new deposits with similar remaining maturity.

•

Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are
monitored by the Bank’s management, employing techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel
Committee, as implemented by BDL, for supervisory
purposes. The required information is filed with the authority on a semi-annual basis.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital.
Capital adequacy ratio is computed on a consolidated
basis based on BDL requirements.
The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital of the Bank for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. The computation of the capital adequacy ratio was performed in accordance with the
directives issued by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon.

(vi) Deposits from customers
The estimated fair value of the deposits from customers
is their carrying amount given that their maturity is less
than 1 year.
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2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Share capital

100,000

100,000

Legal reserve

29,820

27,588

Free reserve restricted to future increases in capital

20,589

17,928

5,454

5,454

Free reserve

66,406

57,985

Loss for the year

(5,971)

-

Intangible assets

(81)

(57)

Unrealised losses on investment securities at FVTOCI

(23)

(23)

(9,602)

-

Common Equity Tier I ("CET I")

General reserve

Less: regulatory adjustments:

Regulatory ECL
Other items

(114)

(116)

Total CET I

206,478

208,759

Total qualifying Tier 1 Capital

206,478

208,759

897

12,258

207,375

221,017

1,659,389

1,178,270

Market risk

50,225

6,612

Operational risk

96,505

98,621

1,806,119

1,283,503

Tier 2 Capital
Provision against ECL stage 1
Total regulatory capital (Tier1 + Tier2)
Risk-weighted assets arising from:
Credit risk (on and off-balance sheet)

Total risk-weighted assets

Below is a comparative between the Bank’s Capital adequacy ratios and supervisory requirements:
Fenicia Bank S.A.L.

Supervisory

Basel III

2019

2018

2019

2018

2019

CET I

11.43%

16.26%

7%

10%

4.5%

Tier I capital ratio

11.43%

16.26%

8.5%

13%

6%

Total capital ratio

11.48%

17.22%

10.5%

15%

10.5%

The capital adequacy ratios as at 31 December 2019 were calculated based on the balances recorded at the reporting date and do not take into consideration the adjustments that will result from the resolution of the uncertainties
mentioned in notes 1.2 and 1.3.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements

cate that there are two different business models.
In determining whether its business model for managing financial assets is to hold assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows the Bank considers:
• Management’s stated policies and objectives for
the portfolio and the operation of those policies in
practice;
• how management evaluates the performance of the
portfolio;
• whether management’s strategy focuses on earning
contractual interest revenues;
• the degree of frequency of any expected asset
sales;
• the reason for any asset sales; and
• whether assets that are sold are held for an extended period of time relative to their contractual maturity.

The Bank’s financial statements and its financial result
are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and management judgement, which necessarily
have to be made in the course of preparation of the financial statements.
The Bank makes estimates and judgments that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are estimates undertaken in accordance with the applicable standard. Estimates and judgments are evaluated on a continuous
basis, and are based on past experience and other factors, including expectations with regard to future
events.

(c) Foreign currency translation

Accounting policies and management’s judgements for
certain items are especially critical for the Bank’s results
and financial situation due to their materiality.

During the latter part of 2019, Lebanon experienced significant shortages in hard currency. As a result, the
banks in Lebanon implemented unofficial foreign exchange controls in the banking sector to manage the
shortages. The US dollar has been in wide use and circulation over the last 2 decades or more and against which
the Lebanese Pound has been pegged throughout that
period at US$ 1 equals LL 1,507.5 (“official exchange
rate”). In terms of the banking sector, rates would not
vary from the official rate and if the banks were to sell
US$ it would be at the official quoted rate. Given that
shortage of US$ and in order to support the imports of
fuel oil, wheat and medicines, the Central Bank has decided to provide importers with hard currency to finance 85% of their purchases in US$ of such goods
from abroad at the official rate.

(a) Measurement of the expected credit loss allowance
The measurement of the expected credit loss allowance
for financial assets measured at amortised cost is an
area that requires the use of complex models and significant assumptions about future economic conditions
and credit behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers
defaulting and the resulting losses). Explanation of the
inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in
measuring ECL is further detailed in note 3.1.3.3.
A number of significant judgements are also required in
applying the accounting requirements for measuring
ECL, such as:

•
•
•
•

In terms of IFRS, foreign exchange denominated monetary assets and liabilities should be measured using the
spot rate as at 31 December 2019. In addition, the results
and financial position of foreign operations that have a
functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as
set out in note 2.2. Determination of the spot rate is
complex as availability of US$ at the official rate is not
always possible due to the exchange controls implemented.

Determining criteria for significant increase in credit risk;
Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for
the measurement of ECL;
Establishing the number and relative weightings of
forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market and the associated ECL; and
Establishing groups of similar financial assets for
the purposes of measuring ECL.

Detailed information about the judgements and estimates made by the Bank in the above areas is set out in
note 3.1.3.

As a result of the above situation, an unofficial rate has
emerged in the foreign exchange market that is applied
by foreign exchange brokers in their currency trades
(“parallel rate”). Management have applied their judgement to determine if the parallel rate should be considered a spot rate. Management do not believe the parallel rate can be considered a spot rate nor is it an official
rate for reasons set out below:

(b) Business model
In making an assessment whether a business model’s
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, the Bank considers at which level of its business activities such assessment should be made. Generally, a business model is a matter of fact which can be
evidenced by the way business is managed and the information provided to management. However, in some
circumstances it may not be clear whether a particular
activity involves one business model with some infrequent asset sales or whether the anticipated sales indi-
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•

Certain exchange houses are not regulated or licensed to trade and may not be considered a legal exchange
mechanism.

Accordingly, the official exchange rate of US$ 1 equals LL 1,507.5 has been used to translate and record the US dollar denominated transactions and balances. In addition, the official rate was used to translate foreign operations
having US$ as their functional currency. If other exchange rates were used, the amounts may be significantly different. In particular, liabilities would be significantly higher. The following are the balances denominated in foreign
currencies that the entity is exposed to and, as a result, may be settled at different values than as reported under
IFRS:

2019

2019
Other foreign currencies in
equivalent

2019

US$ Thousands

US$ Thousands

LL Million

Cash and balances with Central Bank

354,674

31,705

582,466

Due from banks

65,390

15,847

122,465

Loans and advances to customers

316,452

30,438

522,937

15,747

2,305

27,213

2,285

-

3,445

165,736

-

249,847

137

-

207

920,421

80,295

1,508,580

2,681

-

4,041

Monetary assets

Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities
- At fair value through profit or loss
- At amortized cost
Other assets
Total monetary assets
Monetary liabilities
Due to the Central Bank
Due to banks

66

42

163

883,916

76,610

1,447,993

Engagements by acceptances

15,791

2,308

27,284

Other liabilities

2,152

146

3,464

904,606

79,106

1,482,945

Deposits from customers

Total monetary liabilities

At 31 December 2019, if the Lebanese pound weakened/strengthened by 100% against the US Dollar with all other
variables held constant, profit for the year would have been LL 25.64 billion higher/lower.
(d) Going concern
The directors believe that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis because the
Bank is exploring various liquidity measures to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due. Subsequent to the
balance sheet date, cash contributions of LL 46.34 billion (note 33) were made by the shareholders, as required by
BDL intermediary circular 532 dated 13 December 2019.
In addition, and should significant losses arise on financial assets from adverse developments in the country’s economic and financial conditions, the directors are committed to take all necessary measures, in coordination with the
regulatory authorities to endeavor to comply with applicable banking regulations.
(e) Determination of lease term under IFRS 16
In determining the lease term, the Bank considers all facts and circumstances. Extension options (or periods after
termination options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not
terminated). The Bank considers the nature and enforceability of extension clause in the lease agreement, the value
of leasehold improvements, penalties on termination, costs and business disruption required to replace the leased
premises as factors to determine the lease term. Lease agreements for premises occupied by the Bank may contain
an extension option, where the Bank has not considered extension options after analysing above factors.
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Lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Bank becomes obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the Bank. During the financial year, the Bank
has not revised its assessment of lease term as no significant events or changes occurred.
The Bank has undertaken no major other estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

5 Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

8,273

15,770

-

28,643

Current accounts

102,131

128,238

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 28)

110,404

172,651

Mandatory reserve deposits

260,919

260,311

Term placements (original maturities of less than three months)

142,297

-

Term placements (original maturities of more than three months)

330,539

422,449

13,689

10,546

747,444

693,306

857,848

865,957

(10,993)

(3,816)

846,855

862,141

Current

387,316

420,432

Non-current

459,539

441,709

846,855

862,141

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

3,816

-

-

3,379

Increase in impairment allowance (note 23)

8,828

684

Release of impairment allowance (note 23)

Cash in hand
Term placements (original maturities of less than three months)

Interest receivable

Less ECL for cash and balances with central bank

Movement of allowance for impairment losses during the year is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Initial application of IFRS 9

(1,644)

(247)

Exchange differences

(7)

-

Balance at end of year

10,993

3,816
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(i) Mandatory reserve deposits with Central Bank of Lebanon
In accordance with BDL basic circulars no. 84, 86 and 87, the Bank is required to constitute non-interest bearing
mandatory reserve in Lebanese Pounds calculated on the basis of 15% of the weekly average of the term deposits
and 25% of the weekly average of current accounts denominated in Lebanese Pounds. The Bank is also required
to constitute an interest-bearing mandatory reserve in foreign currency calculated on the basis of 15% of the
weekly average of deposits denominated in foreign currencies.
Mandatory reserve deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day
operations. Term placements generate fixed interest. Current accounts with Central Bank of Lebanon do not
generate interest.
At 31 December 2019, mandatory reserve deposits with the Central Bank of Lebanon comprise non-interest
earning deposits in Lebanese Pounds amounting to LL 47 billion (2018 - LL 48 billion) and interest bearing deposits denominated in US Dollar with a counter value of LL 214 billion (2018 - LL 212 billion) (US$ 142 million (2018
- US$ 141 million)).
(ii) Term placements
Placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon of LL 337 billion have been reported on the balance sheet net of
term loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon amounting to LL 160.06 billion (note 15).

6 Due from banks
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Current accounts

83,913

78,025

Cheques for collection

7,540

12,481

-

9,929

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 28)

91,453

100,435

Placements with banks (original maturities of less than three months)

5,000

-

Cash collateral with banks – restricted cash

34,697

58,103

1

6

131,151

158,544

(875)

(949)

130,276

157,595

Current

96,453

99,486

Non-current

33,823

58,109

130,276

157,595

Placements with banks (original maturities of less than three months)

Interest receivable
Less ECL for due from banks

Loans and advances to banks are split as follows:
22,155

38,153

108,996

120,391

Total gross amount

131,151

158,544

ECL on resident banks

(209)

(146)

ECL on non-resident banks

(666)

(803)

ECL for due from banks

(875)

(949)

130,276

157,595

Gross amount - Resident banks
Gross amount - Non-resident banks
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Term deposits with original maturities of less than three months were excluded in 2019 from cash and cash equivalents and were shown separately within placements with banks due to the underlying and significant credit risk.
Movement of allowance for impairment losses during the year is as follows:

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

949

-

-

1,197

Increase in impairment allowance (note 23)

324

297

Release of impairment allowance (note 23)

(393)

(545)

Balance at beginning of year
Initial application of IFRS 9

Exchange differences

(5)

-

Balance at end of year

875

949

2019

2018

7 Loans and advances to customers

LL Million

LL Million

Medium and long term loans

265,172

211,841

Overdraft accounts

218,002

332,921

Housing loans

105,234

113,037

Supported loans and kafalat loans

79,517

97,612

Unpaid bills

42,866

17,397

Bills to the order of the Bank

29,687

68,730

Interest receivable

12,873

4,410

Loans and advances to related parties (note 30)

9,677

10,062

Creditors accidentally debtors

6,484

3,398

Discounted commercial bills

2,614

5,470

(2,524)

(5,636)

Gross loans and advances to customers

769,602

859,242

Less: allowance for impairment

(88,036)

(71,271)

Net loans and advances to customers

681,566

787,971

Current

260,825

387,981

Non-current

420,741

399,990

681,566

787,971

Unearned interest
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The movement of allowance for impairment is summarised as follows:

At 1 January

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

71,271

57,389

-

7,871

Increase in impairment allowance (note 23)

8,753

5,678

Reversal of impairment allowance (note 23)

(471)

(4,982)

Reversal of unrealised interest (note 23)

(49)

(73)

Increase in unrealised interest

8,382

7,451

(210)

(1,712)

360

(351)

88,036

71,271

Initial application of IFRS 9

Provision and unrealised interest
written-off during the year
Exchange differences
At 31 December

8 Debtors and engagements by acceptances
Customer’s acceptances of LL 27.2 billion (2018 – LL 88.7 billion) represent documentary credits which the Bank
has committed to settle on behalf of its customers against commitments provided by them. These acceptances
correspond to negotiated deferred payment of import letters of credit. These commitments are stated as a liability
in the balance sheet under caption entitled “Engagement by acceptances”.

Debtors by acceptances
Less ECL for debtors by acceptances

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

27,285

89,265

(72)

(530)

27,213

88,735

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Movement of allowance for impairment losses during the year is as follows:

530

-

Initial application of IFRS 9

-

178

Increase in impairment allowance (note 23)

-

352

Release of impairment allowance (note 23)

(458)

-

72

530

Balance at beginning of year

Balance at end of year
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9 Investment securities

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

4,064

2,930

49

49

- Unlisted

498

492

Total securities at fair value through other comprehensive income

547

541

147,297

182,083

- Certificates of deposits – in foreign currency

91,287

91,887

- Other debt securities

14,029

17,915

- Lebanese treasury bills

474,088

487,590

- Certificates of deposits

43,971

56,826

Total securities at amortised cost

770,672

836,301

Less ECL for securities at amortised cost

(16,144)

(5,767)

Total securities at amortised cost - Net

754,528

830,534

Total investment securities

759,139

834,005

121,118

65,045

638,021

768,960

759,139

834,005

Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss
- Lebanese unlisted funds
Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive income (OCI)
- Listed

Securities at amortised cost
- Lebanese treasury bills in foreign currency ("Eurobonds")

Current
Non-current

Investments in Lebanese funds amounting to LL 4.06 billion are guaranteed by the Central Bank of Lebanon up to
75% of the carrying amount based on the Central Bank intermediary circular 331.
The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:
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Amortised cost

Fair value
through OCI

Fair value through
profit or loss

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

At 1 January 2018

885,522

550

2,930

889,002

Initial application of IFRS 9

(5,836)

-

-

(5,836)

Additions

153,500

-

-

153,500

Redemption

(285)

-

-

(285)

Matured

(74,778)

-

-

(74,778)

Sold during the year

(125,709)

-

-

(125,709)

Net change in unamortised premium/
discount

(1,028)

-

-

(1,028)

Net change in interest receivable

(840)

-

-

(840)

Exchange differences

(81)

(9)

-

(90)

Net release of ECL for amortisedcost
financial assets (note 23)

69

-

-

69

At 31 December 2018

830,534

541

2,930

834,005

At 1 January 2019

830,534

541

2,930

834,005

Additions

12,060

-

1,134

13,194

Redemption

(3,791)

-

-

(3,791)

Matured

(47,372)

-

-

(47,372)

Sold during the year

(25,060)

-

-

(25,060)

Net change in unamortised premium/
discount

(875)

-

-

(875)

Net change in interest receivable

(591)

-

-

(591)

-

6

-

6

Net release of ECL for amortised cost
financial assets (note 23)

(10,377)

-

-

(10,377)

At 31 December 2019

754,528

547

4,064

759,139

Exchange differences

During 2018 and 2019, the Bank sold investment securities from its amortised cost portfolio. Management justifications are as follows:
(i) In May 2018, the Bank performed an exchange transaction with the Central Bank of Lebanon on a portion of its
Eurobonds with a nominal value of LL 20 billion nearing maturity against other Eurobonds in order to participate in
the Central Bank’s financing product which offered loans in LBP at an interest rate of 2% and a tenor of 10 years.
(ii) During 2018, the Bank performed an exchange transaction with the Central Bank of Lebanon on a portion of its
Certificates of Deposit and Treasury Bills with a nominal value of LL 38 billion and LL 67 billion respectively against
other Certificates of Deposit and Treasury Bills with higher yield and longer maturity in order to offset the increase
in re-priced customer deposits.
(iii) During 2019, the Bank sold a Eurobond with a nominal value of USD 8 million and an interest rate of 6.375%
maturing in March 2020 for an amount of USD 8 million and realised a gain of LL 1.1 billion (net of commission expense of LL 435 million). At the same time, the Bank has purchased a Eurobond with a higher yield and which has
a face value of USD 8 million, an interest rate of 8.25% and matures in April 2021.
(iv) During 2019, the Bank sold certificates of deposit in LBP amounting to LL 13 billion in exchange for USD 8.6
million in order to meet client needs in converting their accounts from LL to USD.
Total net gains realised on the above mentioned transactions amounted to LL 1.16 billion (2018 – loss of LL 267 million).
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Movement of the allowance for impairment losses during the year is as follows:

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

5,767

-

-

5,836

Net release of impairment allowance (note 23)

(3,061)

(69)

Increase in impairment allowance (note 23)

13,438

-

Balance at end of year

16,144

5,767

Balance at beginning of year
Initial application of IFRS 9

10 Property and equipment

Land

Buildings

LL Million LL Million

Leasehold
improvements

Office and Furniture
computer
and
equipment fixtures

LL Million

LL Million

Total
Vehicles
LL Million LL Million LL Million

At 1 January 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

8,936

18,678

7,615

11,257

1,795

34

48,315

-

(2,649)

(6,578)

(10,037)

(1,171)

(34)

(20,469)

8,936

16,029

1,037

1,220

624

-

27,846

Year ended 31 December
2018
Opening net book amount

8,936

16,029

1,037

1,220

624

-

27,846

Additions

-

1,225

-

683

2

-

1,910

Depreciation charge
(note 26)

-

(367)

(506)

(470)

(100)

-

(1,443)

8,936

16,887

531

1,433

526

-

28,313

8,936

19,903

7,615

11,940

1,797

34

50,225

-

(3,016)

(7,084)

(10,507)

(1,271)

(34)

(21,912)

8,936

16,887

531

1,433

526

-

28,313

Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
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Land

Buildings

LL Million LL Million

Leasehold
improvements

Office and Furniture
computer
and
equipment fixtures

LL Million

LL Million

Total
Vehicles
LL Million LL Million LL Million

Year ended 31 December
2019
Opening net book amount

8,936

16,887

531

1,433

526

-

28,313

Additions

-

3,559

-

232

9

-

3,800

Disposals

-

-

-

-

(4)

-

(4)

Depreciation charge
(note 26)

-

(367)

(211)

(286)

(97)

-

(961)

8,936

20,079

320

1,379

434

-

31,148

8,936

23,462

7,615

12,172

1,802

34

54,021

-

(3,383)

(7,295)

(10,793)

(1,368)

(34)

(22,873)

8,936

20,079

320

1,379

434

-

31,148

Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

11 Intangible assets
Computer software
LL Million
At 1 January 2018
Cost

868

Accumulated amortisation

(768)

Net book amount

100

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount

100

Additions

2

Amortisation charge (note 26)

(43)

Closing net book amount

59

At 31 December 2018
Cost

870

Accumulated amortisation

(811)

Net book amount

59

Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount

59

Additions

58

Amortisation charge (note 26)

(36)

Closing net book amount

81

At 31 December 2019
Cost

928

Accumulated amortisation

(847)

Net book amount
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12 Investment properties
Land

Buildings

Equipment

Total

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

LL Million

3,848

5,795

2,392

12,035

At 1 January 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

-

(746)

(2,316)

(3,062)

3,848

5,049

76

8,973

3,848

5,049

76

8,973

-

(118)

(76)

(194)

3,848

4,931

-

8,779

3,848

5,795

2,392

12,035

-

(864)

(2,392)

(3,256)

3,848

4,931

-

8,779

3,848

4,931

-

8,779

-

(115)

-

(115)

3,848

4,816

-

8,664

3,848

5,795

2,392

12,035

-

(979)

(2,392)

(3,371)

3,848

4,816

-

8,664

Year ended 31 December 2018
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge (note 26)
Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2018
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount
Year ended 31 December 2019
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charge (note 26)
Closing net book amount
At 31 December 2019
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

During 2019, investment property generated a rental income of LL 1.69 billion (2018 – LL 1.51 billion).
At 31 December 2019, the fair value of the investment property amounted to LL 65.7 billion as determined by an
independent real estate expert report dated 1 April 2019. This is considered as a Level 2 fair valuation as the most
significant input into the valuation model is the price per square meter of comparable plots in close proximity.

13 Other assets
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Gain on transaction with BDL (i)

5,149

-

Miscellaneous debtors

1,688

3,234

Prepaid expenses

1,057

2,248

981

909

1,882

1,126

-

(74)

10,757

7,443

Due from the National Social Security Fund
Other
Less ECL for other financial assets

Movement of the allowance for impairment losses during the year is as follows:
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Balance at beginning of year
Initial application of IFRS 9
Increase in impairment allowance
Net release of impairment allowance (note 23)
Balance at end of year

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

74

-

-

25

-

49

(74)

-

-

74

(i) Gain on transactions with BDL
In common with other commercial banks, the Bank has availed itself of a special product with the Central Bank of
Lebanon whereby:

•
•
•

it invested US$ 20 million (equivalent to LL 30.15 billion) in term placements denominated in US$ with the Central Bank;
it has borrowed 125% of the LL counter value of the term placement and the foreign exchange transaction
amount at a preferential rate of 2%;
it has placed the funds borrowed in long term placements with the Central Bank at a rate of 9.02% .

The Bank has recognised a gain of LL 5.15 billion in profit or loss on 3 special financial products entered into with
the Central Bank. The fair value was determined based on management’s own internal financial model, and the resulting gain, on initial recognition, was recorded as the difference between the transaction price and the fair value
of the instrument.

14 Non-current assets held for sale

At 31 December

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

10,371

8,057

These assets represent properties acquired against settlement of facilities of defaulting clients. As stipulated by the
Code of Money and Credit, banks have two years (from date of acquisition) to liquidate those assets, otherwise
banks are required to constitute reserves (through appropriation from retained earnings) against these assets, prior
to distribution of dividends.
In accordance with IFRS 5, assets held for sale are recorded at the lower of carrying value and fair value less costs
to sell.
These properties are available for sale and are not included within the Bank’s property used in the normal course of
business. Management believes that the fair market value less cost to sell of these properties approximates their
carrying amount as of 31 December 2019.
Non-current assets held for sale are considered current assets as the Bank has the intention to dispose of them in
the near future.

15 Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon
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Soft loan from the Central Bank of Lebanon (i)
Term loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon (ii)
Other balances

Current
Non-current

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

47,197

53,570

126,683

190,941

3,048

2,197

176,928

246,708

10,126

50,907

166,802

195,801

176,928

246,708

(i) Soft loan from the Central Bank of Lebanon
The Central Bank of Lebanon granted loans to the Bank based on the provisions of decision no. 6116 dated 7 March
1996. Total loans amounted to LL 47.2 billion as at 31 December 2019 (2018 – LL 53.57 billion) and the funds were
then lent to clients at an average interest rate of 4.45%. These loans are subject to an annual interest of 1% and are
payable through monthly installments starting 1 January 2014 until May 2040.
(ii) Term loans from the Central Bank of Lebanon
During the years 2017 and 2018, the Central Bank of Lebanon granted loans to the Bank against term placements
denominated in US$. The loans are denominated in LL and are subject to an annual interest rate of 2% payable on a
semi-annual basis. The Central Bank loans are equal to 125% of the US$ term placements, and must be reinvested in
Lebanese treasury bills with maturities from 5 to 15 years. Proceeds from these loans are deposited in short term
placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon that earn interest at 5.36%, until the funds are actually utilised to
purchase Lebanese treasury bills. At 31 December 2019, the total loans granted to the Bank and reinvested in Lebanese treasury bills, pledged in favour of the Central Bank of Lebanon, amounted to LL 126.68 billion (2018 - LL 126.68
billion).
During 2018, the Central Bank of Lebanon granted loans to the Bank against Eurobonds. The loans are denominated
in LL and are subject to an annual interest rate of 2% payable on a semi-annual basis. The loans obtained are equal
to 125% of the Eurobonds, and are to be reinvested in long term placements with maturities from 5 to 15 years. At 31
December 2019, total loans granted to the Bank amounted to LL 24.69 billion (2018 - 24.69 billion).
During 2018 and 2019, the Central Bank of Lebanon granted loans to the Bank against term placements denominated in US$. The loans are denominated in LL and are subject to an annual interest rate of 2% payable on a semi-annual basis. The Central Bank loans are equal to 125% of the US$ term placements, and must be reinvested in long
term placements with maturities from 5 to 15 years. At 31 December 2019, the total loans granted to the Bank and
reinvested in long term placements amounted to LL 101.11 billion (2018 – LL 39.57 billion).
During 2018 and 2019, the Central Bank of Lebanon granted loans to the Bank against foreign exchange transactions. The loans are denominated in LL and are subject to an annual interest rate of 2% payable on a semi-annual
basis. The Central Bank loans are equal to 125% of the amount of these transactions, and must be reinvested in long
term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon with maturities of 10 years. At 31 December 2019, the total loans
granted to the Bank amounted to LL 34.25 billion (2018 - LL nil).
Under an agreement with the Central Bank of Lebanon in 2019 with respect to the above transactions, settlement
of the loans due to the Central Bank against the term placements with the Central bank is to be effected upon maturity on a net basis.
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The below table summarizes the amounts that have been offset in the balance sheet:

Total term loans from the Central Bank (gross)
Term placements with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Net amount reported on the balance sheet

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

336,985

246,708

(160,057)

-

176,928

246,708

16 Due to banks
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Term deposits

5

38,512

Sight deposits

208

208

213

38,720

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Saving accounts (i)

1,302,205

1,398,048

Term deposits

343,640

320,137

Net credit against debit accounts and cash margins (ii)

244,958

299,154

125,197

106,632

Deposits from related parties (note 30)

31,632

23,666

Interest payable

19,002

10,853

2,066,634

2,158,490

The above balances are current and recognised at amortised cost.

17 Deposits from customers

Sight deposits (iii)

(i) Saving accounts
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Saving accounts – term

1,227,456

1,341,901

Saving accounts – sight

74,749

56,147

1,302,205

1,398,048

(ii) Net credit against debit accounts and cash margins

Pledged deposits against credit facilities
Margins against letters of guarantee
Margins against documentary credits
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2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

233,128

282,173

8,950

8,832

2,880

8,149

244,958

299,154
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(iii) Sight Deposits
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Current and checking accounts

114,837

97,048

Debtors accidentally creditors

9,069

7,675

Cheques and payment orders

1,291

1,909

125,197

106,632

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

4,504

3,096

Miscellaneous creditors

1,931

2,140

Accrued expenses

2,519

837

Provision for foreign currency fluctuations

514

439

Due to National Social Security Fund

223

213

Other liabilities

432

696

ECL for off balance sheet

190

602

10,313

8,023

All term deposits are at fixed interest rates.

18 Other liabilities

Taxes payable

Other liabilities are expected to be settled within no more than 12 months of the date of the balance sheet.
Movement of allowance for impairment losses during the year is as follows:

Balance at beginning of year
Initial application of IFRS 9
Increase in impairment allowance (note 23)
Net release of impairment allowance (note 23)
Balance at end of year

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

602

-

-

582

66

20

(478)

-

190

602

19 Retirement benefit obligations
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

5,533

5,228

330

462

Utilised during the year

(660)

(157)

At 31 December

5,203

5,533

At 1 January
Charge for the year (note 24)
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20 Shareholders’ equity
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Share capital (a)

100,000

100,000

Legal reserve (b)

29,820

27,588

-

-

Free reserve restricted to future increases in capital (d)

20,589

17,928

Free reserve (e)

66,406

57,985

5,454

5,454

423

423

(Loss) profit for the year (g)

(5,971)

22,314

Total shareholders' equity

216,721

231,692

Reserve for unspecified banking risks (c)

General reserve (f)
Other reserves

(a) Share capital
At 31 December 2019, the Bank’s share capital of LL 100 billion consisted of 1 billion shares issued and fully paid with
a nominal value of LL 100 each.
(b) Legal reserve
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

At 1 January

27,588

25,959

Appropriation of profit (g)

2,232

1,629

29,820

27,588

At 31 December

As per the Code of Money and Credit (article 132), banks are required to appropriate 10% of their annual profits to
a legal reserve. This reserve is not available for distribution to shareholders.
(c) Reserve for unspecified banking risks
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

At 1 January

-

22,668

Transfer to general reserve

-

(22,668)

At 31 December

-

-

As per Central Bank of Lebanon basic circular no. 50, banks were required to appropriate from annual profits an
amount between 2 per mil and 3 per mil of risk-weighted assets
(on and off balance sheet) as a reserve for unspecified banking risks. In addition, this reserve was not to be less than
1.25% of the risk-weighted assets at the end of the tenth financial years (i.e. 31 December 2007) and 2% of the
risk-weighted assets at the end of the twentieth financial years (i.e. 31 December 2017). This reserve is considered
as part of Tier I capital, and is not available for distribution. As stipulated by the Central Bank’s basic circular 143, the
Bank has transferred the unspecified banking risks reserve to a newly created general non-distributable reserve
(refer to paragraph (f)).
(d) Free reserve restricted to future increases in capital
This reserve that amounts to LL 20.59 billion (2018 – LL 17.93 billion) arises from the recovery of doubtful loans previously provided or written off. Its use is specifically restricted to future increases in share capital.
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(e) Free reserve
The free reserve of LL 66.41 billion (2018 – LL 57.99 billion) was created from the appropriations of retained profits.
(f) General reserve
As explained in note (c) above, this reserve of LL 5.45 billion (2018 – LL 5.45 billion) was established mainly by
transfer from reserve for unspecified banking risks of LL 22.67 billion and other reserves of LL 169 million in 2018.
The effect of the adoption of IFRS 9 on 1 January 2019 was debited to general reserve.
(g) Appropriation of profit
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

1 January (profit of previous year)

22,314

16,298

Transfer to legal reserve (b)

(2,232)

(1,629)

-

-

-

(1,685)

Transfer to reserve for unspecified banking risks (c)
Transfer to general reserve
Transfer to free reserve for capital increase

(2,661)

(2,077)

Transfers to free reserve

(8,421)

(2,907)

Dividends declared

(9,000)

(8,000)

(Loss) profit for the year

(5,971)

22,314

At 31 December (current year (loss) profit)

(5,971)

22,314

The General Assembly meeting held on 28 June 2019 approved the appropriation of retained profits of 2018 and the
distribution of dividends amounting to LL 9 billion (LL 9 per share).
The General Assembly meeting held on 25 June 2018 approved the appropriation of retained profits of 2017 and the
distribution of dividends amounting to LL 8 billion (LL 8 per share).

21 Net interest income
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

57,864

59,700

63,195

59,584

Interest and similar income
Investment securities at amortised cost
Loans and advances:
- To customers

591

364

Balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

54,103

35,895

Due from banks

3,787

1,302

179,540

156,845

- To related parties (note 30)

Interest and similar expenses
138,377

105,489

Due to the Central Bank of Lebanon

5,704

3,360

Due to banks

1,485

2,090

742

442

Deposits from customers

Deposits from related parties (note 30)
Lease liability
Net interest income
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289

-

146,597

111,381

32,943

45,464
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22 Net fee and commission income
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Fee and commission income
Loans and advances to customers

6,291

7,205

Letters of credit, guarantees and acceptances

2,397

2,802

Checking accounts and transfers

936

944

Customers' deposits

787

795

1,217

1,621

11,628

13,367

Shipment of funds

149

359

Banking operations

315

233

5

29

469

621

11,159

12,746

Other

Fee and commission expense

Other
Net fee and commission income

23 Net impairment charges
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Loans and advances to customers

8,233

623

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

7,184

437

Debtors by acceptances

(458)

352

Other assets

(74)

49

Undrawn credit lines, guaranteeand other financial liabilities

(412)

20

10,377

(69)

Investment securities at amortised cost

(69)

(248)

24,781

1,164

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

9,544

9,342

Directors' remuneration (note 30)

1,575

1,484

Social security costs

1,494

1,486

Schooling allowance

921

818

Transportation allowance

521

579

Provision for retirement benefit obligations (note 19)

330

462

Other benefits

619

591

15,004

14,762

Due from banks

24 Personnel expenses

Salaries and related benefits

The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the year was 226 (2018 - 228 employees).
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25 General and administrative expenses

Municipality and other taxes

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

574

1,169

-

1,220

1,079

1,055

Advertising expense

359

1,242

Professional fees

905

853

Subscriptions

650

633

Repair and maintenance

557

548

Telecommunication

372

410

Utilities expenses

436

451

Stationery and office supplies

325

345

Insurance expense

117

120

Travel and entertainment expense

108

43

Other operating expenses

724

2,045

6,206

10,134

Rent expense
Premium for guarantee of deposits

26 Depreciation and amortisation charges
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Depreciation of property and equipment (note 10)

961

1,443

Depreciation of right-of-use asset (note 31)

872

-

Depreciation of investment properties (note 12)

115

194

Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11)

36

43

1,984

1,680

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

3,299

4,660

8,268

5,897

11,567

10,557

27 Income tax expense
Income tax expense comprises the following:

Corporate income tax (i)
Tax withheld on interest income(ii)
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(i) Corporate income tax
The notional income tax computation for the year is determined as follows:

(Loss) Profit before tax
Tax impact at statutory rate of 17%

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

(2,672)

26,974

(454)

4,586

5,621

-

Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes:
IFRS9 Provisions

33

118

Other taxes

8

74

Other commission

-

204

82

81

(287)

(257)

-

(146)

(1,704)

-

3,299

4,660

Building property tax

Other
Effect of non-taxable income:
Rental income
Other
Release of provisions
Income tax expense for the year
The movement in the income tax liability is summarised as follows:

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

At 1 January

4,667

1,176

Charge for the year

3,299

4,660

(4,660)

(1,169)

3,306

4,667

Payments during the year
At 31 December
(ii) Tax withheld on interest income
The tax withheld on interest consists of the following:

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon

4,439

2,616

Investment securities

3,829

3,281

At 31 December

8,268

5,897

28 Cash and cash equivalents
With effect from October 2019, measures were adopted unofficially by banks that limit the amounts that may be
withdrawn by clients in cash from their current accounts. In addition, foreign exchange controls were implemented
unofficially that effectively prohibit most bank transfers outside the country. Notwithstanding the above, the Bank’s
current accounts continue to be classified as cash and cash equivalents on the basis that such funds may be utilised
without limitations within the country.

Annual Report 2019

85

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS & NOTES

These are comprised of the following:

Cash and balances with the Central Bank of Lebanon (note 5)
Due from banks (note 6)

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

110,404

172,651

91,453

100,435

201,857

273,086

29 Contingent liabilities and commitments
(a) Legal proceedings
From time to time and in the normal course of business, claims against the Bank may be raised. Based on its own
estimates and legal counsel’s advice, management is of the opinion that no material losses will be incurred in respect of claims, and accordingly no provision has been made in these financial statements.
(b) Credit related commitments
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required. Guarantees and standby letters of credit, which represent irrevocable assurances that the Bank will make payments in the
event that the customer cannot meet its obligations to third parties, carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial letters of credit, which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions, are
collateralised by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate or cash deposits and, therefore, carry less
risk than a direct borrowing.
Outstanding credit related commitments are as follows:
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

Undrawn credit facilities

51,032

81,422

Letters of guarantee to clients and banks

46,141

50,813

Documentary and commercial letters of credit

2,026

14,772

99,199

147,007

The total outstanding contractual amount of undrawn credit lines, letters of credit, and guarantees does not necessarily represent future cash requirements, as these instruments may expire or terminate without being funded.

30 Related party transactions
Parties are generally considered to be related if the parties are under common control, or one party has the ability
to control the other party or can exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial or operational decisions. In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the substance of the
relationship, not merely the legal form. The definition includes key management personnel and their close family
members, as well as entities controlled or jointly controlled by them.
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly. Key management personnel include the members of
the Board of Directors (executive and non-executive), the General Manager and the Heads of departments.
A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of the Bank’s business.
These include loans, deposits and foreign currency transactions. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at the year end, and related expense and income for the year are as follows:
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(a) Loans and advances to related parties (note 7)
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

9,677

10,062

591

364

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

31,632

23,666

31,632

23,666

742

442

Key management personnel
Interest income earned (note 21)
(b) Deposits from related parties (note 17)

Key management personnel
Interest expense on deposits (note 21)
(c) Key management compensation

The compensation paid or payable to key management personnel is shown below:
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

1,466

1,466

Remuneration of the Chairman (note 24)

757

757

Remuneration of members of the Board (note 24)

818

727

Attendance fees of the members of audit and risk committees

75

55

Salaries and other short term employee benefit

(d) Other

Lease payments (principal and interest) to an entity under common control
Rent expense paid to an entity under common control
Marketing expenses paid to an entity under common control

2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

616

-

-

616

226

226

Subsequent to the balance sheet date, attendance fees of the members of audit and risk committees amounting to
LL 59 million were paid.

31 Leases
This note provides information for leases where the Bank is a lessee.
(i) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet
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The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

4,895

-

Right-of-use assets
Leased premises
Lease liabilities
Current
Non-current

695

-

3,667

-

4,362

-

(ii) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss
The statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

872

-

Operating leases

-

1,220

Interest expense

289

-

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets

(iii) Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows
The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was LL 1.02 billion, disclosed as follows:
2019

2018

LL Million

LL Million

-

1,220

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating lease payments
Cash flows from financing activities
Principal elements of lease payments

1,015

-

Total

1,015

1,220

(iv) The Bank’s leasing activities and how these are accounted for
The Bank leases various offices, storage facilities, and branches. Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of 1 to 5 years but may have extension options as described in (v) below.
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Bank allocates the consideration in the contract
to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate
for which the Bank is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts
for these as a single lease component.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.
Until the 2018 financial year, leases of property were classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating
leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
period of the lease.
From 1 January 2019, leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use by the Bank.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the
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net present value of the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable.
Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the measurement of
the liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value in a similar
economic environment with similar terms and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Bank:

•
•
•

where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted
to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the
Bank, which does not have recent third party financing, and
makes adjustments specific to the lease, for example term, country, currency and security.

Each lease payment is allocated between principle and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

•
•
•
•

the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability
any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
any restoration costs.

The right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a
straight-line basis.
Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. The Bank does
not have any low-value assets as of the respective reporting date.
(v) Extension and termination options
Extension and termination options are included in a number of property and equipment leases across the Bank.
These terms are used to maximize operational flexibility in terms of managing contracts.
Critical judgements in determining the lease term
In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive
to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after termination
options) are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).
For leases of premises, the following factors are normally the most relevant:
• If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not extend), the Bank is typically reasonably certain to extend
(or not terminate).
• If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Bank is typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).
• Otherwise, the Bank considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and business disruption required to replace the leased asset.
The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the Bank becomes obliged to
exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances occurs which affects this assessment and that is within the control of the lessee.
During the financial year, the Bank did not revise the lease term as no significant events or changes occurred.
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32 Changes in accounting policies
This note explains the impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ a on the Bank’s financial statements.
The Bank has adopted IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019, but has not restated comparatives for the 2018 reporting period,
as permitted under the specific transitional provisions in the standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments
arising from the new leasing rules are therefore recognized in the opening balance sheet on 1 January 2019. The new
accounting policies are disclosed in note 31.
Adjustments recognized on adoption of IFRS 16
On adoption of IFRS 16, the Bank recognized lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value
of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate as of 1 January 2019. The
weighted average lessee’s incremental borrowing rate applied to the lease liabilities on 1 January 2019 was between
7% and 10%.
(i) Practical expedients applied
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Bank has used the following practical expedients permitted by the standard:

•
•
•
•

applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics
the accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 as
short-term leases
the exclusion of initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application, and
the use of hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract contains options to extend or terminate
the lease.

The Bank has also elected not to reassess whether a contract is or contains a lease at the date of initial application.
Instead, for contracts entered into before the transition date the Bank relied on its assessment made by applying
IAS 17 and Interpretation 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease.
(ii) Measurement of lease liabilities
2019
LL Million
Operating lease commitments as at 31 December 2018

2,242

Discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate of at the date of initial application

1,943

Add: adjustments as a result of a different treatment of extension and termination options

903

Lease liability recognised as at 1 January 2019

5,088

Of which are:
Current lease liabilities

1,015

Non-current lease liabilities

4,073
5,088

(iii) Measurement of right-of-use assets
The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognized in the balance
sheet as at 31 December 2018. There were no onerous lease contracts that would have required an adjustment to
the right-of-use assets at the date of initial application.
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(iv) Adjustments recognised in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019
The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the balance sheet on 1 January 2019.

•
•
•

Right-of-use assets - increase by LL 5.77 billion
Prepayment - decrease by LL 679 million
Lease liabilities - increase by LL 5.09 billion

There was no impact on the Bank’s opening retained earnings.

33 Events after the reporting period
(i) Covid-19
The existence of novel coronavirus (Covid-19) was confirmed in early 2020 and has spread across Lebanon, causing
disruptions to businesses and economic activity. The Bank considers this outbreak to be a non-adjusting event after
the end of the reporting period. As the situation is fluid and rapidly evolving, management do not consider it practicable to provide a quantitative estimate of the potential impact of this outbreak on the Bank. The impact of this
outbreak on the macroeconomic forecasts will be incorporated into the Bank’s IFRS9 estimates of expected credit
loss provisions in 2020.
(ii) Explosion in Beirut port
A devastating explosion occurred in the Port of Beirut on 4 August 2020 caused by a fire in one of the warehouses
of the Port that contained highly inflammable materials consisting of ammonium nitrate. The resulting blast wave
levelled buildings near the port and caused extensive damage over much of the rest of the capital. The explosion
caused severe damages to the Bank’s head office and to the branches located near the Port area. Management is
still assessing the damages and do not consider it practicable, at this stage, to provide a quantitative estimate of the
potential impact of this event on the Bank. This is considered a non-adjusting event after the end of the reporting
period.
(iii) Cash contributions
Pursuant to the extraordinary general assembly meeting held on 26 June 2020, cash contributions amounting to
US$ 30.74 million (LL 46.34 billion) were made by the shareholders subsequent to the balance sheet date as required by BDL circular 532 dated
13 December 2019.
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CO R R E S P O N D E N T B A N K S
& BRANCHES

CO R R E S P O N D E N T B A N K S
Belgium

Byblos Bank Europe S.A.				

China

The Bank of New York Mellon				
The Bank of New York Mellon				

Brussels

Hong Kong
Shanghai

France

Al Khaliji France S.A.					Paris

Germany

ABC International Bank					Frankfurt
Commerzbank AG,					Frankfurt
The Bank of New York Mellon				
Frankfurt

Italy

Unicredit SPA						Milan
Banca UBAE SPA					Rome

Japan

The Bank of New York Mellon				

Kuwait

Ahli United Bank K.S.C					

Spain

BMCE Bank International 				

Turkey

Kuveyt Turk Participation Bank				

Tokyo

Kuwait City

Madrid

Istanbul

United Arab Emirates

Al Khalij France Bank					Dubai

United Kingdom		

Bank of Beirut (UK) LTD				
The British Arab Commercial Bank			

United States of America

The Bank of New York Mellon				
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London
London

New York

BRANCHES
HEAD OFFICE

Beirut Central District, Foch Street, Fenicia Bank Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 1) 957857 | Fax: (00 961 1)957858 | P.O.Box: 113-6248 | Zip Code: 1103-2110 Beirut Lebanon
Swift: BKAWLBBE | E-mail: info@feniciabank.com

ABBASSIEH BRANCH

FOCH BRANCH

MOUAWAD BRANCH

ACHRAFIEH BRANCH

GHAZIEH BRANCH

NABATIEH BRANCH

GHAZIEH Main Road, Ghaddar Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 7) 221958- 244958
E-mail: ghazieh@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Mahmoud Fakih Road,
Fenicia Bank Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 7) 762546-769546
E-mail: nabatieh@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

BIKFAYA BRANCH

HAMRA BRANCH

TRIPOLI BRANCH

BIR HASSAN BRANCH

HARET HREIK BRANCH

TYRE BRANCH

BINT JBEIL BRANCH

JOUNIEH

Main Road, Al Shamy Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 7) 450051 - 452454
E-mail: bentjbeil@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Banque Du Liban Street, Stella
Maris Center
Telefax: (09) 832098 – 832198,
e-mail: Jounieh@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

VERDUN BRANCH

CHTOURA BRANCH

KHALDEH BRANCH

ZALKA BRANCH

Jal Albaher, Main Road, Belle Vue Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 7) 742710 - 742722
- 741722
E-mail: abbassieh@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Sassine Square, Dr. Maalouf Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 1) 338635 - 219030
E-mail: achrafieh@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Bikfaya Highway, Massoud Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 4) 983221 - 982320
- 982322
E-mail: bikfaya@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Way Down Sultan Ibrahim, Rafic
Hariri University Hospital district,
Al-Mays(1) Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 1) 843611 - 843612
E-mail: birhassan@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Jdeita Main road
Telefax: (00 961 8) 546630 - 546631
E-mail: chtoura@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor
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Beirut Central District, Foch Street,
Fenicia Bank Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 1) 957800
Fax: (00 961 1)957801
E-mail: foch@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Makdessi Str., Chouman Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 1) 346348
E-mail: hamra@feniciabank.com

Bir El Abed, Al-Arid Str., Itani Bldg.
Telefax : (00 961 1) 559928 – 543510
E-mail: hara@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Khaldeh Highway, Zebian Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 5) 801241 – 811147
E-mail: khaldeh@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

94

Chiah, Mouawad Str., Sheaito
Center
Telefax: (00 961 1) 549700-549701
E-mail: mouawad@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Riad el Solh Street, Missaykeh Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 6) 203160 – 203161
E-mail: tripoli@feniciabank.com
ATM I: Outdoor
ATM II: Palma Resort – Al-Bohsas

Roundabout Rachid Karameh,
Al-Athar str.-Daoud Abou-Saleh Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 7) 740522
E-mail: tyre@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Ain El Tineh - Verdun Bellevue Bldg.
Telefax: (00 961 1) 866306
Fax: (00 961 1) 865299
E-mail: verdun@feniciabank.com
ATM Outdoor

Zalka Main road, Elysee Center
Telefax: (00 961 1) 884450 - 884451896650 - 896651
E-mail: zalka@feniciabank.com

